
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2008-0411


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	1 
June 22, 2009

Gordon Kaiser

Cynthia Chaplin

Cathy Spoel
	Presiding Member and Vice-Chair

Member

Member


EB-2008-0411

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, (Schedule B) (the “Act”);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas 

Limited pursuant to section 43(1) of the Act, for an Order or 

Orders granting leave to sell 11.7 kilometres of natural gas 

pipeline between the St. Clair Valve Site and Bickford 

Compressor Site in the Township of St. Clair, all in the 

Province of Ontario
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Monday, June 22, 2009,

commencing at 9:40 a.m.
------------------
VOLUME 1

------------------

B E F O R E:

GORDON KAISER


PRESIDING MEMBER AND VICE-CHAIR

CYNTHIA CHAPLIN

MEMBER

CATHY SPOEL


MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

LJUBA COCHRANE     

Board Counsel

NABIH MIKHAIL


Board Staff

NEIL McKAY

LAURIE KLEIN

SHARON WONG      
Union Gas Limited

MARK MURRAY

PAUL VOGEL     

GAPLO/CAEPLA

JOHN GOUDY
DWAYNE QUINN     
Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario

PETER THOMPSON     
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters

I N D E X  O F  P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

--- Upon commencing at 9:40 a.m.
1

APPEARANCES
1

PRELIMINARY MATTERS
2

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1
3

G. Tetreault, M. Isherwood, S. Baker

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. WONG
4

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON
16

--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.
48

--- Upon resuming at 11:25 a.m.
48

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
79

--- Upon resuming at 1:24 p.m.
79

PRELIMINARY MATTERS
79

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN
83

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VOGEL
111

--- Recess taken at 3:06 p.m.
140

--- Upon resuming at 3:28 p.m.
140

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. COCHRANE
142

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m.
180

E X H I B I T S
Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BIOGRAPHIES OF WITNESS PANELS.
    2

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  STATEMENT OF WITNESS QUALIFICATIONS.
3
    

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ONE PAGE ENTITLED "PROPOSED WITNESS PANELS", SETTING OUT EVIDENCE OF WITNESSES.
    3

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ORGANIZATIONAL CHARTS FOR DAWN GATEWAY PARTNERSHIP IN CANADA AND US.
    3

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  VALUATION STUDY.
    14

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  UNION’S APPLICATION AND PREFILED EVIDENCE.
    21

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  UNION’S RESPONSES TO 

INTERROGATORIES.
    21

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  TWO VOLUMES OF DAWN GATEWAY NEB APPLICATION.
    36

EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  GAPLO-UNION EVIDENCE.
    115

EXHIBIT NO. K1.10:  HERITAGE POOL DESIGNATION APPLICATION AND EXCERPTS FROM THE PREFILED EVIDENCE.
    126

EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  BOARD STAFF SCHEMATIC TITLED "MICHIGAN-ONTARIO INTERCONNECTIONS".
    142

U N D E R T A K I N G S
Description







Page No.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE COST FIGURES FOR 2003 TO 2007.
16

CONFIDENTIAL UNDERTAKING NO. X1.1:  PROVIDE PROJECT COSTS.
32

CONFIDENTIAL UNDERTAKING NO. X1.2:  PROVIDE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF ST. CLAIR LINE.
78

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE RATE OF RETURN.
86

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF SHIPPERS WHO ARE C1 CUSTOMERS THAT HAVE SIGNED PRECEDENT

AGREEMENTS.
146

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF ACCOUNTING TREATMENT RE SALE OF PIPELINE.
167

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
MONDAY, JUNE 22, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by Union Gas Limited on December 23rd, 2008 under Section 43(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.


That application seeks an order from the Board granting leave to sell 11.7 kilometres of 24-inch diameter steel natural gas pipeline running between the St. Clair valve site and the Bickford compressor site in the Township of St. Clair.


Union has indicated it proposes to sell this pipe to Dawn Gateway LP, the yet to be created limited partnership.  Dawn Gateway LP will be owned jointly by Spectra Energy Corp. and DTE Pipeline Company through various affiliates.


Union has also indicated that it is expected that Dawn Gateway Joint Venture may require several years to complete all the steps needed to put that line into service, and, accordingly, requests that leave to complete the sale of Dawn Gateway LP be extended until December 31st of 2013.  


May we have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:

MS. WONG:  Good morning.  My name is Sharon Wong.  I am here as counsel for Union Gas, and with me is Mr. Mark Murray from Union Gas.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Wong.


MR. VOGEL:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Paul Vogel, and with me is John Goudy, and we represent the intervention of GAPLO and CAEPLA.


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, sir.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson, Mr. Chairman, for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

Anyone else?  


MS. COCHRANE:  Ljuba Cochrane for Board Staff.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. WONG:  Mr. Chair, I have a number of exhibits which I have made available to Board Staff and to my friends, and I thought perhaps we could put them in at this point, if it would be easier.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  The first would be short biographies of the two witness panels that Union plans to call, and if we could mark that as Exhibit 1.


MR. KAISER:  What number is that?


MS. WONG:  Exhibit 1, I believe.


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BIOGRAPHIES OF WITNESS PANELS.

MS. WONG:  The second would be the statement of qualifications of all of the witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  STATEMENT OF WITNESS QUALIFICATIONS.

MS. WONG:  The next is one page entitled "Proposed Witness Panels", and it sets out the evidence that the various witnesses are responsible to speak to.


MR. KAISER:  K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ONE PAGE ENTITLED "PROPOSED WITNESS PANELS", SETTING OUT EVIDENCE OF WITNESSES.

MS. WONG:  And the last document is actually two pages.  It is organizational charts for Dawn Gateway partnership in both Canada and the United States.


MR. KAISER:  K1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ORGANIZATIONAL CHARTS FOR DAWN GATEWAY PARTNERSHIP IN CANADA AND US.

MR. KAISER:  This is the one with the green and yellow boxes?


MS. WONG:  Correct.  They're two different pages.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  All part of the same exhibit?


MS. WONG:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. WONG:  Those are all of the exhibits I would propose to introduce at the moment.


MR. KAISER:  Are you ready to proceed with your panel?


MS. WONG:  I am.

     MR. KAISER:  If the witnesses could be sworn?


MS. SPOEL:  Come forward, please.

Union Gas Limited - Panel 1


Steve Baker, Sworn


Mark Isherwood, Sworn


Greg Tetreault, Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. WONG:

MS. WONG:  Mr. Chair, the first panel is comprised of Mr. Steve Baker, who is the vice president for business development, storage and transmission at Union Gas.  He started work at Union in 1989.  He is a chartered accountant and has a BA in chartered accountancy studies and a master of accounting.  


Mr. Baker will be dealing with the policy matters regarding the sale of the St. Clair Line and benefits to Ontario customers as a result of the sale.


The second witness is Mr. Isherwood, who is on the far right.  Mr. Isherwood is the director of business development, storage and transmission, and he has been with Union since 1982.  He has a bachelor of engineering in chemical, a bachelor of commerce and a master's of business administration, and is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  


Mr. Isherwood will also be speaking about the benefits of integrating a line into the Dawn Gateway project and the current use of the St. Clair Line.


The third witness on the far left is Mr. Greg Tetreault.  He is the manager of rates and prices.  He started working at Union in 1998, has a bachelor of arts degree in geography and honours bachelor of commerce degree in finance.  


His area of responsibility will be rate impact to customers of Union resulting from the sale of the St. Clair Line.


Before I make the witnesses available for cross-examination, sir, I have a very brief examination-in-chief.  Mr. Baker has prepared a statement, just to summarize some of the benefits of the project and how we got here today.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.


MS. WONG:  Mr. Baker, are you familiar with the prefiled evidence that Union filed in support of the application for leave to sell the St. Clair Line?


MR. BAKER:  I am.


MS. WONG:  Did you help to prepare that evidence?


MR. BAKER:  I did.


MS. WONG:  I understand there is one paragraph in the prefiled evidence that needs to be updated; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MS. WONG:  Could you turn to paragraph 11 of the prefiled evidence?


That paragraph advised that the agreement of purchase and sale for the sale of the line had not yet been signed.  Is that still true?


MR. BAKER:  No.  Union has recently signed an agreement of purchase and sale with Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership.


MS. WONG:  Okay.  In the Chair's opening statement this morning, he mentioned the fact that when the application was filed, it indicated that the Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership had not yet been set up.  Is that also still the case?


MR. BAKER:  No.  The Dawn Gateway Partnership has been set up, as reflected on Exhibit K1.4.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  I believe there has also been one change to the evidence that was made in a revision -- in IR No. 6 from the Federation of Rental Housing Providers.  I don't believe the Panel needs to turn it up, but paragraphs 21 and 22 of the evidence refers to the capacity to transport currently as being approximately 200,350 gJs per day.  That number has been revised in the interrogatory response to 214,000 gJs per day; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MS. WONG:  As a result of that change, there was a column that had some percentages in paragraph 21 of the prefiled evidence.  That column has also been revised to reflect the updated capacity numbers.  That's in IR Response to the Federation of Rental Providers, No. 6; correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MS. WONG:  Apart from those changes, are you aware of any other changes or updates that need to be made to the evidence?


MR. BAKER:  No, I am not.


MS. WONG:  Do you believe the prefiled evidence with those updates to be true and accurate?


MR. BAKER:  I do.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, can you please summarize for the Board the reasons for this application and provide an update on the status of the Dawn Gateway project?


MR. BAKER:  Sure.  The purpose of my brief remarks is just to highlight two areas, one being some background or some context to Union's application to sell the St. Clair Line, and, secondly, to provide an update on certain activities related to the Dawn Gateway project.


So first in terms of background, Union is seeking to approve -- approval to set St. Clair Line to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture.  Dawn Gateway is looking to combine the existing assets and some new construction to develop an integrated transportation path from Belle River in Mills, Michigan to Dawn, and to really provide an integrated point-to-point service from those two points.


It is important to recognize that currently the existing transportation path from Michigan to -- into Ontario consists of three physically connected but separate pipelines, and going from west to east we have the Belle River Mills Line which is owned by Michigan Consolidated Natural Gas and regulated by the Michigan Public Service Commission.  


Then we have the St. Clair River crossing, which is owned by St. Clair Pipelines LP and is regulated by the National Energy Board.  Then we have the St. Clair Line or St. Clair to Bickford Line which is owned by Union and regulated by this Board.  

     Union has an existing pipeline today between Bickford and Dawn, but that pipeline is used principally in the storage operation at Dawn.  So in the summertime gas moves from Dawn west to our storage pools as part of the injection cycle.  And in the winter gas moves out of the storage pools east back to Dawn as part of the withdrawal cycle.

     So that line is not available to physically move transportation volumes that come into Michigan going into 

Ontario.  

     However, some level of firm transportation from Michigan to Dawn can be provided today, and that's really provided via an exchange mechanism with the demands in the Sarnia market.  So volumes that flow from Michigan into Ontario on the St. Clair Line get diverted into the Sarnia market and they get exchanged with volumes that are already at Dawn or are flowing to Dawn.  

     So although we can't physically flow gas all the way through to Dawn, we can provide transportation service via that exchange mechanism.  

     Another important aspect I think to recognize on this path today is that it is not utilized to a significant extent and that is really due to a number of factors, but principally the lack of coordination and inability to coordinate the marketing of the various components and pipelines and services on that path.  

     So specifically today, customers need to contract separately for transportation service from MichCon, then separately for service from Union.  

     What happens a lot of the times is that because both parties are trying to maximize the value for that service, often times the economics don't work from a customer's perspective and it results in a combined toll that is uneconomic from a customer perspective.  

     The other thing is that that path or the transportation path today is often uneconomic because you have to look at the combination of tolls and fuels -- fuel, variable fuel costs on that path, and today when you look at the Canadian and the US assets it is fairly expensive.  The combined variable fuel cost is almost 2 percent, so 2 percent of every volume moved is the fuel required to move volumes on that path.  That is quite high; particularly when gas prices are high, that variable fuel cost is quite high.  

     So as a result, the volumes that are contracted to flow on this path, the corresponding pipeline utilization rates are very low.  Generally the only time we see volumes contracted to move is when the market price differential between Michigan and in Ontario and Dawn is sufficient enough to support those volumes moving.  Also when the respective prices that are offered from MichCon on the US side and Union on the Canadian side work together from a customer's perspective, it is economic to flow the gas.  

     The last point I would make about the line today is that the contracts are very short-term in nature and they're seasonal.  So most of the contracts that we see on this path are for winter-only transportation service.  And they are only committed to on a very short-term basis, season to season, again, based on the market values that happen to arise in any particular season.  

     Union had a valuation study completed for the St. Clair Line based on discounted cash flow and the asset values, which showed a ranged value for the St. Clair between 1.6 and $2 million relative to its current net book value of 5.6.

     I think this confirmed to Union that our belief that the St. Clair Line is being underutilized today and that the revenues from that line are not supporting the costs of operating that line.  

     Union began looking at this path from Michigan and Dawn for a couple of reasons, one being that we did realize that it wasn't being utilized to the full extent today, but I think the second reason is that there have been a lot of changes in the North American gas supply situation, and specifically there is a lot of new supplies that are developing south of the Great Lakes.

So if you look at new gas supplies that are developing in the Rockies and are starting to move on the new Rockies Express Pipeline, again south of the Great Lakes, and we're seeing a lot of shale gas development in east Texas and Louisiana, again those supplies south of the Great Lakes.    

     So from a Union perspective, we felt it was critical to look to find a way to try to attract some of that supply up through Michigan and into Ontario.  

     If we could do that on an economic basis, we felt that that would provide benefits to Ontario in terms of enhanced supply and enhanced supply diversity.  It would provide additional interconnect capability between Michigan and Ontario storage.  And having additional volumes flowing into and through Dawn would support additional infrastructure and would support the continued development of new storage capacity.

     So given the current issues on this path and the lack of marketing coordination, we began discussions with DTE in terms of how could we make this path more economic and more competitive, and there were also discussions happening with customers and potential shippers in terms of:  What service would they desire and what would they need to be better attracted to move gas supply on this path?  

     Customers indicated that in order for them to be attracted and see value, what they would need is a point-to-point service from Michigan to Ontario, so an integrated and coordinated service and one that was competitive from both a fixed toll and a variable fuel perspective.  

     Customers were also clear what they would desire or need in order to make a long-term commitment, transportation commitment on this path is they would need a fixed toll.  So if they -- for them to be able to commit long-term to a transportation contract, they would need a guarantee of a fixed rate so they could manage their risks and their commercial options on that capacity.  

     So the discussions with DTE started to go down the path of partnering equally on this path, to try to create a point-to-point transportation service from Michigan to Ontario and to try to get alignment and coordination in terms of marketing this transportation path.  

     When we had these discussions on a point-to-point nature of the service in terms of what the market was looking for and what we thought was required, it was really, when we looked at that, that service, it really to us seemed to fall into a federal undertaking, in terms of moving gas across the border to Dawn and we felt that that service and the associated path really fell within the jurisdiction of the National Energy Board.

     When we looked at it from that perspective, again, from the federal nature of the assets and the service, we really looked at that from a Spectra perspective, and the decision was made that investment should best be held outside of Union Gas.

     So again -- so from that point on too, in order to accomplish the joint venture we really looked at three main things, one of which was for DTE and Spectra Union to contribute our respective assets into a 50/50 joint venture.

Second was to look to establish a fuel rate that better reflected the specific fuel cost on this integrated transportation point-to-point path.

And the third thing was to look to see whether we could get enough market support and market commitment to this path to support building some new infrastructure, principally between Bickford and Dawn, so that we could complete a physical path, physical 24-inch pipeline all the way from Belle River Mills to Dawn.  

     Next I want to provide a brief status update on the Dawn-Gateway project.  As I mentioned earlier, both the Canadian and US entities have been established as reflected on Exhibit K1.4.  It is a 50/50 joint venture structure and held equally by Spectra Energy and DTE Energy. 

     Dawn Gateway has filed an application with the National Energy Board to transfer certain existing assets into the partnership and to also seek approval to construct a new 24-inch pipeline between Bickford and Dawn, and the intention is to create 360 million a day, cubic feet a day of firm year-round transportation capacity between Belle River Mills, Michigan and Dawn.  

     Dawn Gateway has also applied to the NEB to be regulated as a Group 2 pipeline.  

     Dawn Gateway has signed and executed contracts with five parties for volumes totalling 280 million cubic feet a day.  And Dawn Gateway is still targeting an in-service date for the project and the services of November 1, 2010.  

That concludes my opening comments.  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  That concludes the examination-in-chief.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, before we start with some the questions, you made a reference in your opening to the fact that the existing line was operating at a loss.


Is there a date on that?


MR. BAKER:  We have completed a valuation study.  I don't believe it's been filed.


MR. KAISER:  Is it possible to obtain that?


MS. WONG:  We have copies with us today, if you would like to look it right now.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MR. KAISER:  This will be K1.5.


MS. COCHRANE:  That's right, Mr. Chair.  That will be Exhibit K1.5.

EXHIBIT K1.5:  VALUATION STUDY.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, can you take us through this, K1.5?


MR. BAKER:  This is a study that we had done by Marcus & Associates to look at what the fair market value of the St. Clair Line was.


So what they did was, in general, they looked at, from a historical perspective, the net revenues that we have been able to generate by selling services on this line relative to the cost of the assets and the cost of operating this pipeline.


They looked at a low base and a high scenario and developed a range of market values between 1.6 and $2 million.


MR. KAISER:  Where is the operating loss?  What table is that?


MR. BAKER:  If you look at page 23 -- it is really 23, 24, and 25.  Those are the low-base and high-range scenarios, and you can see that there is a projection there based on different assumptions on revenues, and it shows the projected earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation under each of those scenarios.


MR. KAISER:  This is all going forward, though?  These are forecasts?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  I read or I heard your statement to say that in the past, historically, this line had been operating at a loss.  Do we have the historical figures?


MR. BAKER:  It is really a combination of schedule 1 and 2 on page 21 and 22.  So on page 21, which is schedule 1, that is the historical revenues that have been generated from this line.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. BAKER:  Then on schedule 2, page 22 shows the operating costs associated -- the annual operating costs associated with the line.


MR. KAISER:  For 2008?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.  


MR. KAISER:  So we've got figures, but the revenue side of this on page 21, that is an outlook.  The cost side of this on page 22, that's also estimated.  Do we have any actuals?


MR. BAKER:  Yes.  On page 21, schedule 1, there is actuals there for 2003 to 2007.


MR. KAISER:  On the revenue side, yes.


MR. BAKER:  On the revenues.  The costs, I don't think we have the operating costs broken out by year, but certainly the costs for years 2003 to 2007, on a historic basis, would be consistent with what you see for 2008 on schedule 2.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have the actuals?  Do you have the costs that would be comparable to the revenue figures on page 21?


MR. BAKER:  I don't have those with me, but we can get those prepared.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  If you could, that would be helpful.


MS. WONG:  For what years, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Same years as page 21.  I think it is 2003 to 2007 are the actuals.  We have the revenue figures.  We just don't have the cost figures.


MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Chair, that will be undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE COST FIGURES FOR 2003 TO 2007.

MR. KAISER:  What's the order of cross-examination, gentlemen?


MR. THOMPSON:  I think I am going first, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Quinn had planned to go first, but his computer hasn't arrived, so it's been transferred to me.  Mr. Quinn goes second, I believe, and counsel for GAPLO goes third.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Baker, if I could just begin with this document that has been filed this morning, Exhibit K1.5, this market value estimate, it would appear from page 2, was provided November 28th, 2008; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the St. Clair Line, in terms of the joint venture, without change, has capacity to ship 350,000 gigaJoules per day; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  No.  It has the capacity to move -- the capacity of the line today is the 214,000 gJs a day.  That's the physical capacity, physical capacity of the line.


MR. THOMPSON:  But as part of the proposed joint venture, with the additional line from Bickford to Dawn, the existing St. Clair Line, unchanged, will carry 350,000 gigaJoules per day; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  It is a combination of all of the assets, being the Belle River Mills Line, the river crossing, the St. Clair Line and the proposed new construction of the 24-inch between Bickford and Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  Will carry 350,000 gigaJoules per day; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is actually 36,000 decatherms.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is it in gigaJoules, roughly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  390.


MR. BAKER:  390,000, approximately.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So in terms of the value of the St. Clair Line to the purchaser, that value, in conjunction with the entire joint venture, should be determined on the basis of carrying 390,000 gigaJoules per day; would you agree?


MR. BAKER:  This valuation was really looking at the valuation of the assets as they exist and operate today.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand that.


But in terms of the plan to sell it to this purchaser, should it not have been looked at at 390,000 gigaJoules per day?


MR. BAKER:  No, we don't believe so, because you can't -- you cannot flow 390,000 a day on that line today.


The Dawn Gateway project is looking at a number of things, but the most significant being the construction of new pipeline between Bickford and Dawn, and that's how that project will be able to offer that level of capacity.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I suggest to you this line is being proposed to be sold to this purchaser so that in conjunction with the Dawn Gateway project, this line can carry 390,000 gigaJoules per day; is that not correct?


MR. BAKER:  As part of a broader project that includes other things and other assets to be constructed.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the valuation here was -- can be translated in terms of volumes being carried on the line, the 1.6 to 2 million.  Is there some rough rule of -- rough guide you can give us as to how much volume, translated into these dollars, that's produced this market value estimate?  Would it be something in the order of 20,000 per day?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the valuation study actually looked at a couple of things.  It looked at the book value, was one of the considerations.  It also looked at the cash flow of that line over the last five years.  


One of the points they make in the study, which we make in our evidence as well, is that line is dramatically underutilized today.  

     If you look at Interrogatory FRPO No. 6, where the updated load factor table shows up, over the last six years, the average load factor is 9 percent or 8 or 9 percent.  So the existing line is not being utilized anywhere near the near the 214,000 of capacity it has today.  So there is really no legitimate reason why you would extrapolate that to the 360 in the current environment.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's look at FRPO Interrogatory No. 6.  I don't know if this has any exhibit numbers, so I will just use that reference.  If it has exhibit numbers, I don't know what they are.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is an interrogatory number, sorry, No. 6.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But it doesn't have an exhibit number in this proceeding.  We are just referring to it as Interrogatory No. 6; is that right?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  

     MS. WONG:  Before we move on -- sorry, Mr. Thompson -- should we give it an exhibit number, Mr. Chair?  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.  What are we marking exactly, just the one -- the one response or...

     MS. COCHRANE:  We are at K1.6.

     MS. WONG:  I would think we should just mark the entire set of interrogatories, but I am in your hands as to that.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Why don't we mark your entire application, then, with some exhibit numbers?  Would that be appropriate?

     MS. WONG:  I am not quite sure what you mean, but I am willing to listen. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the stuff you prefiled, there is an application, there is a schedule A, there is an index.  There is prefiled evidence.  There is schedule 1 and schedule 2.  Then there are interrogatory responses. 

     Normally those would have exhibit numbers in the filing, and I don't really care whether I just refer to them by the words, but if we're going to mark some of them, I suggest we mark all of them.

     MS. WONG:  That makes sense. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Actually, Mr. Chair, it is not the practice to have to name as an exhibit the application in the prefiled evidence.  They have already gone through the Board Secretary's office, they're already on the record of this proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  They do need an exhibit number.  I don't know what the practice is, but if it's going to be evidence, it should have an exhibit number.  So let's give it one.

     MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  We are at K1.6 and that is for the entire application, Union's application; is that correct?  

     MS. WONG:  So the application and the prefiled evidence together will be K1.6?  

     MR. KAISER:  Is that all of Volume 1?  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  UNION’S APPLICATION AND PREFILED EVIDENCE.
     MR. THOMPSON:  That's my understanding, yes.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Then the interrogatory responses are a separate volume.  Do we want to make that a separate exhibit?  

     MS. WONG:  Union's responses to interrogatories, all, I believe there are five sets of them, will be K1.7.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  UNION’S RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES.

     MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we are in K1.7 at FRPO No.6, in response to interrogatory from FRPO, and this has a table in it, which I understand updates a table that was in the prefiled evidence at page 4, paragraph 21; is that correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  This table is showing quantities in the left-hand column.  Is that gJs per day?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is gJs per year; gJs per day is the second or actually the third column.  It goes years, annual, and then daily flows.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Then the fourth column is the one I was referring to which was the load factors and the number I gave, really the average of those six years is 9 percent.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So just to nail this down on terms of gJs per day, for the years 2003 to 2008, the high was in 2003, it would appear, 35,266 per day.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the low appears to have been in 2006, 5,296 gJs per day.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?  It is those volumes that led to the revenues, that have led to the market value appraisal?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The capacity of the line as part of the joint venture is 390,000 gJs per day; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So at the high, the amount flowing through here was less than 10 percent of the capacity of this line as part of the joint venture and the low would be a very low percentage.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the toll that is going to be paid on the joint venture, assuming it is approved is a fixed toll, as I understand it from Belle River to Dawn.  

     MR. BAKER:  It is a negotiated fixed toll, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, in these precedent agreements that have been signed for the purpose of the NEB application, I understand there are five shippers; is that right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Each of them will have the toll amounts specified in those agreements; is that right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the -- so the revenues that Dawn Gateway is going to get from this project -- if it is approved -- for these shippers is a known fact to you.  Not to us.  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the proportion of the St. Clair Line of the total project, my understanding from the evidence that from Belle River to Dawn is about 34.3 kilometres; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's approximately right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the St. Clair Line is, I believe, 11.7 kilometres?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it is roughly 34 percent of the total length of the proposed international pipeline; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  It sounds right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So in theory, 34 percent of the revenues that are going to be generated by these fixed tolls from Belle River to Dawn is attributable to the St. Clair Line, in theory.  

     MR. BAKER:  I'm not even sure in theory.  Because what we're talking about with the Dawn Gateway project is a completely different service, and a different set of assets.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, without -- 

     MR. BAKER:  It's going to require a significant capital investment to construct a new line between Bickford and Dawn.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Maybe I should have said 34 percent of the net revenues attributable to the entire -- related to the entire project would be attributable to the St. Clair Line; isn't that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  I guess the way I look at it is that what we're trying to do is to create an integrated path so we can generate the new capacity.  

     So no one portion of that line is any more or less than the other.  You need everything together to offer the service. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But if you are asking the question, what is this line worth to the purchaser, in the context of this particular project, isn't that the calculation you would make to determine the ultimate value of this line to the purchaser?  

     MR. BAKER:  I guess the difficulty I am having is that to just split it up on a proportionate capacity basis, based on the length of the line, doesn't reflect the value that is going to have to be spent to complete the path.  So as an example, the cost to put a new piece of pipeline in between Bickford and Dawn could be significantly more money than the value of the other assets.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That may be so.  And maybe it is not proportional on kilometres, but you could look at the replacement cost of the existing St. Clair Line versus the project costs of the Bickford to Dawn proposed new line and perhaps develop the allocation that way.  

     What I am suggesting to you is to determine the value of this line to the purchaser, you have to look at the prospective use of the line by the purchaser; would you not agree with that proposition?   

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you are also assuming that the new Gateway Line would be flowing at 380,000 gigaJoules per day, which is not a good assumption either.

The person that did this valuation study is an expert in valuation studies.  He looked at it from a point of view of market value and book value, and this was his professional opinion.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the market value is based on historic use, not prospective use; correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Has anyone done an evaluation, market valuation based on prospective use?


MR. BAKER:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me leave that study, then, for the -- for the moment.


Another question I had, though, as a result of your evidence-in-chief, Mr. Baker, was with respect to the 50/50 joint venture.  On a kilometre basis, from Belle River to -- Belle River Mills, I guess it is, to Dawn, I made it that Union -- I made it that Spectra companies were contributing about 86 percent of the pipe.  There is only about 4.7 kilometres of MichCon pipe being dedicated to the joint venture; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  I wouldn't describe it that way, because within the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture the investment associated with the new Bickford-Dawn line will be equally contributed 50/50.  It doesn't exist today.


MR. THOMPSON:  But we don't know what those project costs are, though, right?  That's a big secret, even with the NEB.  You know what they are, but we don't know what they are?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you prepared to tell us what they are?


MR. BAKER:  Again, we have looked at this project in terms of, again, from the service and the path that we think is required to support this line and that it is an NEB path, and it is clear from our evidence there were a number of competitive options.  There were a number of competing options out there.


Our preference was not to disclose that capital cost.


MR. THOMPSON:  Even in confidence?  I understood what you to be saying of the NEB is you will disclose that information in confidence if you --


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Will you disclose it here in confidence?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, we would be prepared.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, we can do that, in confidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, could you give me an undertaking, then, to provide that as confidential information?


MR. KAISER:  Before we do that, what is the relevance of the cost of building the missing piece?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, I'm talking about the cost of building the Ontario piece.


MR. KAISER:  The new piece?


MR. THOMPSON:  The new piece, right.


MR. KAISER:  I meant the new piece.  What is the relevance of the cost of building this new piece, to us?  I understand the NEB's interest.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the relevance is -- can I come back to that?  Maybe if I just ask a few more questions, then I will come back to that point.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

So let me back up here then, Mr. Baker, if I could, to just understand what Union is seeking from this Board.


So that is -- I believe we find that in your application and in the prefiled evidence, which is part of -- these are separate tabs in Exhibit K1.6.


Am I correct, first of all, that Union is asking the Board to approve the sale of the St. Clair Line to the joint venture?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is the St. Clair Line utility assets?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the sale is -- the proposed sale is from the one regulated utility to another regulated utility, but under your proposal it will be an NEB-regulated utility?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  These assets are currently being used by Union as a regulated utility to provide regulated transportation services?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the assets, if the sale of them is approved to the joint venture, will be used to provide regulated transportation services, albeit regulated by the NEB?


MR. BAKER:  I'd say a different service.  It would be a point-to-point service from Belle River Mills to Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, okay.  But it will be regulated by the NEB?  I appreciate the differences in the regulation.


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So does it follow from all of that that the ratepayers get full credit for the sale price of the assets; that is, the Ontario ratepayers get full credit for the sale price of the assets?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the application and in the prefiled evidence, I think it is in paragraph 43, you say:   

"Union, DTE and Spectra have agreed that the sale price for the assets will be equal to the net book value of the assets at the time of the sale."  


Right?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, are you asking the Board to approve that method of determining the sale price of the assets?


MR. BAKER:  Yes.  It would be at the net book value at the time the sale took place.


MR. THOMPSON:  But are you asking the Board to approve the method for determining the sale price of the assets?


MR. BAKER:  If you're describing net book value being the method, then I would agree.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Would you agree with me that the Board could approve not net book value, but replacement costs as the method for determining the value of these assets?  That's a method for determining asset value?


MR. BAKER:  I am sure there is different ways -- I am sure there is different ways to look at it.  What we are describing in here is that, from both a Spectra and DTE perspective, the proposal was that the existing assets would be contributed in at net book value from both parties into the joint venture.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that's the proposal, but replacement cost is another method for evaluating assets.  We have agreed on that?


MR. BAKER:  Sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And another method of evaluating assets is the discounted -- is the income approach that is reflected in this valuation that you provided.  Is it fair to describe that as an income approach to valuation?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  If one used the prospective income as opposed to historic income in determining value, one would get quite a different number for the value of the St. Clair Line?


MR. BAKER:  Again, you are looking at a prospective value of a different asset than what we're talking about on the St. Clair Line.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we can argue about that, but prospective -- a prospective approach, which you haven't done, is another approach to determining the value of the asset; correct?


MR. BAKER:  We did take a prospective approach in terms of what we felt that line could continue to generate going forward, as it exists today.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I don't want to quibble with you.  I can leave that for argument.


Now, in terms of the replacement cost of the St. Clair Line -- let me just back up.


As part of the federally-regulated project that you are contemplating, your constructive -- propose to construct a new line, 24-inch line, from Bickford to Dawn; right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's going to be 17 kilometres in length?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the project costs for that line are what you are prepared to disclose to this Board in confidence, right?


MR. BAKER:  To the extent that they would find that helpful, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, I will come back and get an undertaking for that, if I may.

But would it be fair to suggest that the project costs of the new 17-kilometre line would be a surrogate for determining the replacement costs of an 11.7-kilometre line?


MR. BAKER:  I don't know.  I haven't looked at it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, why wouldn't you?


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask a question here?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Would they be physically identical?  

     MR. BAKER:  I don't believe they would be physically identical.  You would have to look at the route and what you truly thought it was going to cost to replace the pipe. 

     MR. KAISER:  No.  But one is 17 and the other is 11.  I mean, is pipe pipe?  Are they going to look the same?  One is newer than the other, but are they functionally identical or not?

     MR. BAKER:  It would be the same structural pipeline that would be the same, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  24-inch pipe connecting to the existing St. Clair Line 24-inch pipe?

     MR. BAKER:  That's right, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's why I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that these costs are of some relevance. 

     MR. KAISER:  I understand now.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's why I would ask that the project costs be provided to this Board and participants, on signing the requisite confidentiality undertaking, so we'll have them before us.

MR. KAISER:  Can we give that a number, please?

     MS. COCHRANE:  That will be first confidential undertaking, C1.1 (sic).

CONFIDENTIAL UNDERTAKING NO. X1.1:  PROVIDE PROJECT COSTS.
     MR. BAKER:  The point I was going to make is that if you are looking for a replacement cost, I mean the other option is to just undertake to provide an estimate of the replacement cost for the St. Clair Line.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can we do both?  

     MR. BAKER:  I would rather do one. 

     MS. WONG:  Well, if we gave you an undertaking to provide the actual replacement cost, I wouldn't see any relevance at all to the costs of the Bickford to Dawn Line.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, one is an actual figure that we know.  It's available right now.  It is a current verifiable figure.  So why don't we use that?  24-inch pipe is 24-inch pipe.  I mean, I guess the construction costs might be a bit different.

     MR. BAKER:  That's right. 

     MR. KAISER:  But I suppose replacement costs reflects updated construction costs anyway. 

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.

     MS. WONG:  Presumably it would have to be discounted somewhat for the fact that it is slightly different in length, but...

     MR. KAISER:  No, of course.  

     MS. WONG:  So it would just be the one undertaking, then, to provide the -- 

     MR. KAISER:  It is up to Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am asking for the Exhibit K -- confidential undertaking, is it K or J?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  I think C; confidential undertakings are labelled C.

     MR. THOMPSON:  We used to have Xs on them.  Anyway, so it is C?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  1.1.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  C1.1.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m happy if Union wants to provide the actual replacement costs as part of that undertaking response, feel free to do so.  Okay?  

     MR. BAKER:  Okay.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  

     Okay.  So coming back to what you are asking for.  If the Board approves a method for determining the price that is not what you are proposing, net book value -- assume that is a condition of the order -- will Union comply with that condition?  

     MR. BAKER:  We would obviously -- we obviously comply with whatever this Board decides.  

     The issue I would raise is that the project may not go forward and therefore there may be no sale.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So why would the project not go forward?  Just that the proponents are not prepared to pay the price higher than net book value, is that it?  

     MR. BAKER:  I think you have to step back and look at what we are trying to achieve, which is:  We've got assets today, both in Michigan and Ontario, that aren't being sufficiently utilized.  And what we tried to do is look at what structure can we put these assets into that would bring more value to the Ontario ratepayers, not only from the perspective of the assets not covering their operating costs today, but to try to get the market to commit to this path to bring additional volumes into Ontario which would have the benefits that I covered in my opening remarks, in terms of additional supply coming into Dawn and supply diversity, a firm interconnect between Michigan and Dawn in terms of the interconnectability of storage.

     So it is not like we're looking to sell this asset at net book value into a joint venture and there is not going to be any additional benefits to the Ontario ratepayers, because from my perspective, there will be significant value to Ontario and the Ontario ratepayers, if we can get those additional volumes coming into Ontario.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will come back to that justification business a little bit later.  My question was confined to compliance with the condition that had pricing at a method different from what you proposed.  

     My understanding is Union will comply, but you are saying you don't know what the joint venture is going to do; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  I can't speak for the joint venture, in terms of whether that project would still proceed.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the other point that you are proposing or asking the Board to approve, I believe, is that the proposed sale and method for determining the price be approved now, but that the time to complete the sale be extended until December 31, 2013; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  The reason for that is to allow all of the other regulatory shoes to drop; is that --

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now I would like to turn, if I might, to just discussing the Dawn Gateway project and its various components that you mentioned in your examination in-chief.  

     Let me just start with the parties.  This, by the way, is described in prefiled evidence, tab -- project summary, and there's also similar statements in the application that Dawn Gateway GP has filed with the National Energy Board; correct?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I understand the Board Panel has received two volumes -- I received them this morning -- of the Dawn Gateway NEB application.  

MR. BAKER:  I believe that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can we perhaps mark these as the next -- mark this as the next exhibit.  There is two volumes of the Dawn Gateway NEB application.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  We are at Exhibit K1.8.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  TWO VOLUMES OF DAWN GATEWAY NEB APPLICATION.
     MR. THOMPSON:  K1.8.  Thanks.  

     So to follow my questioning here, Mr. Baker, you probably should have the project summary, which is the prefiled evidence section 1 in Exhibit K1.6 in front of you, and have the NEB stuff at hand.  

     Maybe you will need this chart that you referenced this morning, as well.  I don't know where I put it, but it is the organizational...

     Oh, here it is, this K1.4 chart.  

     Now, in terms of the parties to the joint venture, looking at it big picture, is it fair to suggest that the parties are Spectra Energy Corp or Spectra, which is Union's ultimate parent, and DTE Pipeline company, which is Michigan Consolidated's ultimate parent?  Is that right or have I got that mixed up? 

     MR. BAKER:  I don't believe that DTE Pipelines is MichCon's parent.  I think MichCon is under DTE Energy Corp.  But generally, what you have stated is correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So MichCon is not necessarily a subsidiary, but it is an affiliate of -- 

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In any event, at the top of the 

Pyramid, it is Spectra and DTE Pipeline Company?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the components of the joint venture -- these are described in the project summary of the prefiled amended schedule 1 of that Exhibit K1.6 --there is a map, a picture.  I think it is called a map.


Do you have that in front of you?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, we do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just take the picture out and hold it up here so we can see the pieces of this as described in the project summary.


So the first piece is the Belle River Mills Line; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  That, I take it, runs from the Belle Mills compressor station shown on the picture, which is schedule 1, over to the middle of the St. Clair River.


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is the Belle River Mills compressor station part of the project in any way?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There would be some measurement facilities within that compressor station.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but otherwise, the Belle River Mills compressor station will remain owned by MichCon?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That piece is 4.74 kilometres of 24-inch line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that piece is currently regulated by the Michigan Public Service Commission, MPSC?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The evidence suggests it is going to remain regulated by the MPSC; in other words, state-regulated?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Under the scheme currently contemplated; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that the tariffs that you are going to be operating under -- there will be some tariff filing with the state regulator?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the -- picking up in the middle of the St. Clair River, what we have is the next piece referred to in the project description, which is the St. Clair River crossing, and that goes from the middle of the river to the St. Clair valve site; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that is 0.873 kilometres?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?  Now, the St. Clair valve site, that is Union Gas Limited assets at the moment, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is it remaining Union Gas Limited?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  It would be part of the Gateway project.  It would be sold to Gateway.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the entire valve site is being proposed to being sold?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.  Then from the valve site down to Bickford storage -- the Bickford compressor station, that's the red line, and that flows through the St. Clair Line station; right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the red line is the St. Clair Line, the 11.7 kilometres, the 24-inch line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Which flows through the St. Clair Line station, and it connects at the Bickford compressor station, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you are asking the Board to approve the sale of that line to the joint venture?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the St. Clair Line station is currently a Union Gas Limited asset?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it will remain a Union Gas Limited asset?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, the part of the station that would be sold to Dawn Gateway, there is some measurement and some valving that would be sold to Dawn Gateway.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is that in the application somewhere?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  I read somewhere -- it might have been in the NEB filing -- that you had to do some enhancements or improvements to the St. Clair Line station to meet the requirements of Dawn Gateway, but...

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you're saying those enhancements and improvements will be for the Dawn Gateway's expense, but there is also some existing stuff that is going to be sold to Dawn Gateway or proposed to be sold?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is all the same thing, basically.  That station has some measurement on it and upgrades around the measurement side of it.  So the upgrade is talking about the same assets as being sold to Dawn Gateway.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then at the Bickford compressor station, that currently is a Union Gas Limited asset.  Is it going to remain as a Union Gas Limited asset?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it will.


MR. THOMPSON:  But there will be some Dawn Gateway stuff particular to that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, Dawn Gateway is not intended to be connected to Bickford station.  So it will basically go around the station when it is done.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should go back.  I think I said earlier that the valve site at the end of the river crossing was Union Gas property.  Looking at this map, it is showing as being actually part of the St. Clair LP property, not Union Gas.  I need to check that at the break.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I missed what -- whose property?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The second line that shows Mill River to the valve nest which is St. Clair River crossing, which is number 8(ii), it talks about valve site, St. Clair valve site.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That valve site, I believe, is property of St. Clair LP, not Union Gas.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is a very small facility.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Got you.  Thanks.


The new line -- this is from Bickford to Dawn -- you have an arrow on the map that is sort of pointing to the border of the border of this -- the green piece on this map.  Where is it contemplated that the Bickford to Dawn new pipeline will be constructed?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  For the majority of the length of the pipeline, it would be adjacent to the existing pipeline.  Easements would be adjacent.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but how close?  You say it is not going to connect to the Bickford compressor station.  So is it above the Bickford compressor station where it interconnects?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the pool line is running slightly below that station.  So the new easement would be adjacent to that Bickford Pool Line.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  How close, roughly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Side by side.  They're abutting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But how many feet separating them?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The two easements are the same, are touching.  The north and south boundary of the two easements would be similar along most of the route.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


Now, if we go to the NEB application, I think it is in the project overview and identification of parties, which --- I have it starting at page 14.  So that would be Tab 3, I believe, of the Volume 1 of the NEB material, Exhibit K1.8, right?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, we have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, on the US side, if I understand this correctly, there has been a limited liability corporation, Dawn Gateway Incorporated.  Is that Dawn Gateway LLC?  Is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  In the NEB application -- this is the actual application to the Board.  That's at page 7.  So that would be in your K1.8 at Tab A, page 7.  I am referring to paragraph 7, subparagraph (a).   

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  So are you in the NEB evidence or the OEB evidence?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  This is in the NEB binder A, Tab 1 -- excuse me, paragraph 7(a).  Are you with me?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So on the US side, what is being contemplated with respect to the Belle River Mills Pipeline is this, and I will read the last part of the paragraph:

"The Belle River Mills Pipeline is currently regulated by the MPSC, and would be purchased or leased by Dawn Gateway Pipeline LLC, a Delaware limited liability company."

Is that right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So leasing is part of the concept that is being considered on the US side?

     MR. BAKER:  It says purchased or leased.  It hasn't been decided.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, which is it at this point?  Do we know?

MR. BAKER:  We haven't actually landed on that yet. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But leasing is being considered?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Why is leasing being considered?  

     MR. BAKER:  As I understand it, there are some tax issues, which I don't profess to understand, on the US side, in terms of why a lease was being looked at.  But the structure of that would be that the ownership of those assets would revert to the joint venture at some future point in time, if we did pursue a lease.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it sounds like it is a lease as part of an agreement, a long-term agreement to purchase?

     MR. BAKER:  It would be a long-term lease, that's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is the lease a structure that is tolerable on the Canadian side of the river?  

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is a lease, Union Gas leasing its assets on the Canadian side of the river, tolerable?  

     MR. BAKER:  I guess when we looked at that, again, if you look at the lease that's being contemplated on the US side, it would be a long-term lease, a capital lease, which is effectively a sale, because the intention would be that the ownership of those assets would revert to the joint venture.

     So if you look at that on the Canadian side, in terms of a long-term lease, we didn't look at it as any different than effectively a sale where we are effectively transferring the rights and ownership of that asset to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me put it this way.  Immediate ownership of the assets on the US side is not essential to this international pipeline project that you proposed.  

     MR. BAKER:  That's the intention.  It is just we might have to go through an intermediate step to get there.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what I drew from that was immediate ownership on the Canadian side should not necessarily be essential to this project that you have proposed.  Is it or is it not essential?  

     MR. BAKER:  We feel it is essential.  We feel that it is -- it is better to sell the asset as opposed to try to do an intermediate step that we don't see a need for on the Canadian side.  But the intention of the joint venture is to have asset ownership at a point in time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can you tell me what regulatory approvals MichCon needs to obtain to either lease or sell the asset to the joint venture?  

     [Witness panel confers.]  

     MS. WONG:  Before you answer that, Mr. Baker, Mr. Chairman, to go back to your original comment, I am not quite sure what the relevance of this line of questioning is, with respect to the regulatory approvals needed by MichCon with respect to anything that this Board has to determine.

     MR. KAISER:  Can you help us on that, Mr. Thompson?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think it would go to the question of whether it is appropriate for you to approve a sale of these assets now or at some point later; it could be a condition of that sort.  

     The other -- what was the word -- direct response, I thought questions about US approvals were posed in the interrogatories and Union provided some responses to them.  So I was just trying to follow up on the status of outstanding regulatory approvals.  

     Now, that interrogatory, I don't know if I have the right one or not, but...

     MR. KAISER:  While you are looking for that, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Baker, the chart with the yellow and green boxes, K1.4, it shows Dawn Gateway Pipeline LLC.  Then when I look at page 19 of the NEB -- this is section 6 which deals with the corporate structure -- it talks about Dawn Gateway GP and the shareholders being the New Brunswick corporation which is wholly owned by Spectra and DTE Dawn Gateway Canada Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of DTE.  

     Am I looking -- is Dawn Gateway GP the same as dawn Gateway Pipeline LLC?  

     MR. BAKER:  No.  The Dawn Gateway GP is really the Canadian structure, and the LLC is the US structure. 

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.  Right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  The interrogatory response I was thinking of was GAPLO -- G-A-P-L-O -- Interrogatory No. 10 where there is some questions about the regulatory approvals with respect to the Belle River Mills Line.  It is somewhere in the interrogatory responses, I thought, where Union indicated that it would be doing something before the Michigan regulator, and then seeking some presidential permit for export. 

     Can you help me with that interrogatory response by any chance, Mr. Baker or Mr. Isherwood?  

     MR. BAKER:  It sounds familiar.  I don't know exactly where it is, either.  We can look to try to find it.  

     But what I would say is we were trying to be helpful to the Board and parties in terms of a broad overview in terms of what would be required relative to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture.  But we are certainly not versed and experts in what needs to happen on the Michigan side, in terms of regulatory approvals.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, will the joint venture -- the joint venture will be making those applications, will they not?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  On the Michigan side?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Somewhere in the evidence, it was indicated that it was expected that the Michigan regulatory approvals would be sought in the second quarter of 2009.  

     MR. BAKER:  I'm just saying that that part of the project and those approvals are being dealt with by our partner, by DTE.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But you, Mr. Baker, are what, the co-president or something of Dawn Gateway?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  But I am not -- I have not been involved in the specific details of those filings.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Have regulatory approvals been requested in Michigan, filed, to your knowledge?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not on behalf of Gateway.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not on behalf of Gateway.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me see if I can find this.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it would, Mr. Chairman.  Thanks very much.

     --- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:25 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MS. WONG:  Before you start, perhaps Mr. Isherwood could clear up that question he said he would look into as to the ownership of the St. Clair valve site.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to correct that, the actual valve site on the interconnection between the St. Clair River crossing and the St. Clair Line is actually a valve nest owned by Union Gas.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are we right it is proposed to be sold to the joint venture?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  It would be sold in its entirety to the joint venture.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Coming back to the regulatory approvals on the US side, what I was looking for is at page 15 of the NEB material, and that is Exhibit K1.8, and I believe it is at Tab 3, the second page under that tab.


I will direct these questions to you, Mr. Baker.  Hopefully you are the right person to ask.  But on page 15, in talking about the US regulatory approvals, second-last paragraph, it says that:

"The Dawn Gateway LLC will file a tariff with the MPSC for approval of its rates and services and anticipates that a filing be made in the second quarter of 2009."


Just by way of update, has that been filed, to your knowledge?


MR. BAKER:  To my understanding, it has not been filed yet.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next paragraph talks about a federal presidential permit pertaining to the exportation of gas to Canada, and Dawn Gateway LLC anticipates filing this permit in the third quarter of 2009.


So, to your knowledge, that has not been done yet?


MR. BAKER:  To my knowledge, it has not been done.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of this jurisdictional issue, going back to a question I asked you previously, it appears that the joint venture participants are comfortable with what I would call provincial regulatory jurisdiction on the US side, state regulation.  They're not doing anything to obtain federal regulatory jurisdiction on the US side; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  The view is that the asset would properly remain under the jurisdiction of the Michigan Public Service Commission.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, can you help us with this jurisdictional question:
 Do the joint venture participants consider the jurisdictional question to be optional?  In other words, they can stick with state or provincial regulation, or choose federal if they can make the case for federal?  Is it optional?


MR. BAKER:  My understanding was that the view was that it should remain state-regulated.  That was the proper construct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that piece is no different than the St. Clair piece, is it?  It's one piece of the whole?


MR. BAKER:  I think what we looked at was from -- if you switch over to the Canadian perspective, because we were looking to offer an integrated point-to-point service from Michigan to Ontario, that the portion of that joint venture from the river to Dawn was an international or federal undertaking and, therefore, came under NEB jurisdiction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I see.  So what you are calling the international -- I misunderstood -- undertaking is only from the middle of the river to Dawn?


MR. BAKER:  The international undertaking is from -- the service that we are looking to provide is from Belle River Mills to Dawn, integrated.  But there is a US and a Canadian piece.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, that's what I initially understood.  To be international, you have to have a point on the other side of the river.  


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's Belle River?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the international undertaking is from Belle River to Dawn, but you are content to have a piece of that international undertaking regulated by the State of Michigan?


MR. BAKER:  Again, it is not whether we're content or not.  It was that was our view, in terms of the proper regulatory jurisdiction for that line.


MS. WONG:  Mr. Thompson, I think perhaps the disconnect is because you are assuming that just because the Canadian portion has to be federally-regulated, that somehow impacts on the US jurisdiction.


I believe the witness's answer is they were told that they could do it under state regulation in the US.  That really has no relevance to the jurisdiction over the Canadian portion of the line.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, were you told you could do it under federal regulation in the US, as well, and did you make a choice?


MR. BAKER:  It wasn't a choice.  They looked at what the -- based on the rules and how that line should continue to be regulated, and the view was that it was properly regulated by the Michigan Public Service Commission.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. KAISER:  Excuse me, when you said point to point, is point number one the Belle River Mills compressor station or the St. Clair Belle site?


MR. BAKER:  The point-to-point service we're looking to offer to the market is Belle River Mills, so that's the service that we are looking to sell to the market, Belle River Mills receipt point, to Dawn, the delivery point.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just in terms of coming to the Ontario side and all of these pieces, Union, as I understand it, takes the position that that is a federal undertaking and that the NEB's jurisdiction, therefore, applies?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, does Union have a choice in that jurisdictional issue?  Does Union regard that it has a choice?


MR. BAKER:  We didn't think that there was a choice.  Our view, based on our understanding, was that it was -- it fell under the definition of a federal undertaking, similar to Vector, the Vector Canadian piece.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is the Vector US piece federal or is it provincial?


MR. BAKER:  I believe Vector US is federal.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But it is federal because it crosses state line.  That is the differentiation in the US.  Because Vector crosses state line, it is interstate, where MichCon or MPSC regulates intrastate.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it is federal in Canada because it is part of an international pipeline, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. BAKER:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the precedent implications of this position and looking at your Dawn-Trafalgar system, could that not be viewed as a component part of an interprovincial and/or international pipeline?


MR. BAKER:  Our view is that the Dawn-Trafalgar system is part of our integrated system for both transmission and distribution.  We serve distribution loads off that system, so that it is properly provincially-regulated.


MR. THOMPSON:  On the basis of that answer, will the Dawn-Trafalgar system always remain provincially-regulated as far as Union Gas Limited is concerned?


MR. BAKER:  As far as we're concerned, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, the rates that the NEB would be setting would only cover -- you tell me if this is right -- from the middle of the river to Dawn, because from Belle River Mills to the middle of the river, those rates are set by Michigan, Michigan Public Service Commission?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that shippers on your Dawn-Trafalgar system, as far as you are concerned, do not have the option of applying to have that regulated by the NEB?


MR. BAKER:  Whether they've got the option to apply or not, I think you had asked me my view in terms of:  Is that properly provincially-regulated?  And because we serve distribution loads all down that line, we feel it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it has laterals off it, just like TransCanada has in its system; right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?


MR. BAKER:  Mm-hmm.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, TransCanada crosses provincial boundaries, which makes it NEB-regulated.  Dawn to Parkway pipeline is all within Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So is your St. Clair Line.  So is everything from the river down to Dawn, all within the province.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is one company owning one point-to-point path, which crosses international boundaries.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let me move on, then.


In terms of the relief you are seeking from the National Energy Board, first of all, in terms of project costs, just to touch on that.  If we look at the NEB application -- that's at page 43, which is, I believe, Tab 11 of Volume 1 in the Exhibit K1.8 -- this is for the piece that you are planning to -- the new piece you are asking the NEB to approve for construction, right?  

     MR. BAKER:  It would be that as well as the additional costs that we need to incur along that path.  So upgrading to metering, those kinds of things.  But the majority of the costs would be the new piece of pipeline, that's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In any event, at the moment those project costs are not on the NEB record, and in this section of the application, you are saying that you are prepared to provide those project costs in confidence just as you have agreed to do here?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the tolls at the NEB, I think we find that at pages 55 and 56, the tolls and tariff section.  That would be at Tab 15 of the Exhibit K1.8, right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  You have these five contracts that are discussed in that material and you are asking that those contracts be treated in confidence at the NEB, since there is no information on the record with respect to tolls?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  Because we're seeking -- we're seeking the -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You are asking the NEB to approve -- is it to approve the contract prices in those particular contracts, or simply to approve a negotiated toll?  

     MR. BAKER:  Negotiated rates within those agreements.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that won't be transparent to the public unless the NEB does something to make it so?

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  Because we're seeking Group 2 regulation as an at-risk pipeline, not looking for cost-of-service determined rates.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Group 2 pipeline requests -- I think this is under method of regulation, which was another tab which is -- excuse me, Tab 7, which is page 21 of the NEB application?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?  It's here you say you seek to be regulated as a Group 2 company and regulated on a complaint basis for the purpose of toll and tariff regulation.

     And that means, as I understand it, that everything rolls along smoothly unless one of these five shippers complains.  

     MR. BAKER:  Or a party in the future, that's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Or a what, I'm sorry?  

     MR. BAKER:  Or another party in the future.  It doesn't have to be just limited to these five shippers.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is it limited to shippers?  

     MR. BAKER:  Any shipper can lodge a complaint. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Any current or prospective shipper?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  The other aspect of what you are seeking under Group 2 regulation is to be relieved from filing any financial statements in a public way for this venture; is that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So if this thing gets approved the way you propose, will there be any transparency in the way these transportation tolls operate on this federally regulated pipeline?  

     [Witness panel confers.]

     MR. BAKER:  I think what that will ultimately be decided is it will be up for the NEB or the MPSC to decide what the disclosure requirements are for those contracts.  But again, what we're seeking, just to be clear, under Group 2 is that Dawn Gateway Joint Venture will operate as an at-risk pipeline.

     So we will commit to a fixed toll to the shippers that have agreed to commit, and we will manage all of the risks associated with that pipeline.  So any risks of uncommitted capacity or contract non-renewals, that is our risk or that's the risk of the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture to manage.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But without any transparency, how will this Board or anyone else be able to determine whether this is or is not an open-access pipeline?  

     MR. BAKER:  Well, it will be an open-access pipeline and that's certainly the basis on which we're going forward.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will come back to a couple of questions about that in a moment.  

     MR. KAISER:  Just a minute.  Is it a condition of your deal with your partner that the NEB accept this proposal as a Group 2?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  So if for whatever reason the NEB said:  No, you are Group 1, the deal would be off?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  And the reason is -- the reason for that is that when we've gone on and talked to the shippers, what they say, what they have told us is for them to be able to commit long-term to a contract, they need a fixed rate.  And they cannot be subject to rate adjustments periodically through the term of that deal. 

     So in return for agreeing to a fixed rate, we agree to manage all of the risks associated with that pipeline.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  What are -- excuse me.  Are Vector's tolls published?  

     MR. BAKER:  I believe they're published.  I think they have a max rate tariff.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That's not what the joint venture is contemplating, is it?  

     MR. BAKER:  No.  We will probably have the same thing in terms of a max rate tariff.  There will be a tariff associated with the pipeline.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the federal regulatory jurisdiction on the Canadian side versus provincial, I was wondering if you could turn up OEB, response to OEB Interrogatory No. 1.  

     At page 2, about the middle of the page, you say:   

"It's Union’s understanding that Dawn Gateway LP will not complete the purchase of the St. Clair Line if it is ultimately determined that the Dawn Gateway Line is under the jurisdiction of the OEB."

     Right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And a little later on in this interrogatory, at page 4, you tell us in the first three lines, at least as I understand it, that ownership of the St. Clair Line is not determinative of jurisdiction.  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you could have, I suggest, the federally-regulated pipeline, but ownership still with Union Gas Limited, right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Again, I think it is possible, but for -- but when we looked at it for this venture and this path to work, we would need those assets committed on a long-term basis to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture.

We've talked about, you know, can you lease it?  You can, but it would have to be a long-term lease and it would -- and it would have the nature of a capital lease, where ownership is effectively transferred to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture, anyway.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just bear with me in terms of this concept of the ownership remaining in Union Gas Limited, but you have the federally-regulated pipeline, of which the Union St. Clair Line is a piece.


You have your NEB tolls that you are seeking.  Does that structure with the Union Gas ownership of the St. Clair Line provide some transparency, in the sense that this Board will see what's going on with that St. Clair Line as part of utility filings in this case?  


There is a window of transparency in that scenario, I suggest.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BAKER:  I guess there's a couple of things, trying to think about this.


The transparency that would be there would, I guess, be in the form of a service that Union is selling to Dawn Gateway.  Presumably that would be a regulated service.  As I said, for that to work, that would have to be, you know, a long term -- a long-term service or a long-term lease at a fixed price based on the structure that Dawn Gateway Joint Venture has.


I think the other complicating factor would be that we feel we need to have a 50/50 joint venture structure where the interests of Spectra and DTE are aligned and -- or a struggle is how that would work in terms of constructing the new line under OEB.


So it would be like Union would make 100 percent of that investment, and what's required under the joint venture is an alignment of interest between Spectra and DTE and a sharing of the capital risks associated with building the new line.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, under my scenario, you could get federal regulation for the new line and you might have the joint venture owning the new line.  But the existing St. Clair Line, if you keep it there as a window of transparency, it would be a window of transparency, is what I am really asking you.


MR. BAKER:  I don't really see how that would provide a lot of transparency.


It would be a rate, that Union is selling a service or a lease to the joint venture or a portion of the joint venture.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is it about the OEB jurisdiction that causes the project to crater, when state regulation of the project on the US side and leasehold interests of the project on the US side are perfectly acceptable?  What's wrong with OEB keeping a window of transparency here?


MR. BAKER:  Again, I have to come back to the start where we looked at the nature of the pipeline and the nature of the service in terms of it being an international or federal undertaking, and that's what gravitated us to NEB jurisdiction first.


Then it is based on what the market was looking for.  So they said for us to commit to a long-term contract on this path, we need a fixed rate.


The only way we'll be able to build new facilities or infrastructure is if we have a long-term contract.  So it was the inability to get a fixed rate for a long period of time to support the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture.


Under cost-of-service, under OEB cost-of-service, that rate will and can fluctuate over time, but we'll have no ability under the Dawn Gateway structure to change our contracts or agreements with the shippers that have agreed to commit.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me move on, then, to this business of open access.  And to put this in context, I will just draw your attention to one of the questions we asked.  It is in the interrogatory exhibit, and it is CME No. 2.


And in question 2, subparagraph (d), we asked that:

"With respect to the Dawn Gateway JV proposal to connect Michigan storage to Dawn, please provide a description of the extent to which third party shippers unaffiliated with Union are expected to be shippers on the pipeline if it is approved."


This goes to this question of open access and whether this line is going to be dominated by the joint venture participants.


The answer that you gave us was:  

"See the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1." 


Which I didn't find terribly helpful.  So I am going to just follow up on that question in the context of what's provided in the NEB material with respect to shippers, and this is in the tolls and tariffs section at page 55, which we were at a moment ago.  That is at Tab 15 of the NEB material, K1.8.


So I would like you to turn up that page -- pages 55 and 56.


MR. BAKER:  I have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  This is telling us that the joint venture had an open season, closed in -- a non-binding open season that closed in September 22, 2008.  Have I got that straight?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Details of the open season bulletin are in the NEB materials at appendix C, and then DTE and Spectra received long-term non-binding bids in excess of 422,000 gigaJoules per day; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  You are familiar with those bids, are you, Mr. Baker?


MR. BAKER:  DTE was the party that organized and managed the open season.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  In your capacity as co-president of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline General Partner Inc. that has filed this stuff with the NEB, are you familiar with those?


MR. BAKER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.  Now, those bids then led to some following up with customers who submitted non-binding bids, and ultimately five customers have been awarded contracts from five to ten years, as summarized in the table, right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  We know from one of the responses -- I think it is to OEB Interrogatory No. 1 -- that Union, I believe, is one of these parties; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, which one is Union, A, B, C, D or E?


MR. BAKER:  I would prefer not to disclose it, except that we are one of the parties on that sheet.


MR. THOMPSON:  Why would you not disclose that on the record?


MR. BAKER:  Well, I am just trying to figure out what the relevance of that is.  We have said that we are a party to one of the contracts.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, isn't that contract going to be subject to scrutiny in proceedings before this Board?


MR. BAKER:  No.  The purpose of Union taking a position on Dawn Gateway is intended to be linked to us also taking a contract at storage position with DTE to move additional storage capacity to Ontario.  So it would be part of our unregulated storage portfolio that we're looking to manage.  


We are looking to bring additional storage capacity to Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, even so, is it still not subject to some scrutiny before this Board?


MR. BAKER:  I would say that it would not be subject to scrutiny, because it would be part of our unregulated storage operation.


MR. THOMPSON:  So this is not going to benefit regulated consumers at all, this proposed project?  Sorry, regulated -– rate-regulated consumers, is that what you're telling us?  

     MR. BAKER:  I think from the Board's decision in the Natural Gas Interface Storage Decision, they have decided, as part of that decision, to allocate a certain amount of storage at cost-based rates to Union's in-franchise distribution customers.  That's still the case.  

     I would also say, though, that by us trying to bring additional storage and physically connect it to Ontario, that that will bring value to Union's ratepayers, because it will bring additional gas supplies to Dawn.  It will create additional options for them at Dawn, to acquire supply.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me ask this:  How many of these parties, A, B, C, D and E, are unaffiliated with either Spectra or DTE?  

     MR. BAKER:  Four of the five are unaffiliated. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  They are arm's-length unaffiliated -- 

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- parties?  Can you tell me -– well, one customer here got 100,000 tied up, which is roughly, what, not quite a third, 30 percent of the space.  Right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's a fairly dominant position.  What's concerning me is, without transparency into some of this stuff -- assuming that shipper's Union, is that not an opportunity for Union to extend its dominant position for storage in Ontario right back into Michigan?  In other words, block open access rather than enhance it?  

     MR. BAKER:  Absolutely not.  The whole discussion we had in the NGEIR storage decision -- and you will recall this -- was a concern expressed at the time about the level of uncontracted firm capacity between Michigan and Ontario, and we spent a lot of time talking about the fact that gas had a lot of other ways to move between Michigan and Ontario and other parts of the competitive storage market.  

     This is a project that tends to make additional capacity available.  So you can see that not all of the capacity that we're proposing to create through the joint venture is contracted.  So there is clearly still capacity there that is to be contracted, and it will create additional options for Ontario customers to reach back into Michigan, should they so choose.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we were told there is a lot of cheap storage in Michigan in the NGEIR hearing; is that right?

     MR. BAKER:  I don't recall those exact words.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Storage in Michigan would be traded at market values as well as storage in Ontario. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What is the cost-based price of storage in Michigan?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No idea. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  We had some evidence on that, I thought, in NGEIR. that it was like 17 cents or something is what sticks in my mind.  Does that sound familiar?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It does not, actually. 

     MR. BAKER:  No.  The storage that is being sold in the market in Michigan -- other than the storage that is dedicated to the LDC market, is sold at market rates. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  But one of the -- my recollection of one of the propositions that was being advanced by Union and others in the NGEIR case was that projects of this nature will enable consumers in Ontario to access cheap storage in Michigan.  

     I am suggesting to you, under this structure, they don't get access to cheap storage.  They get access to conglomerates like Spectra and DTE that take all that money for themselves.

     MR. BAKER:  I do not recall a discussion where we said you could reach back and get cheap storage, because as I said, the storage that's being marketed and sold in Michigan is being sold at market rates.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add that Spectra Union actually participated in open season with DTE last September for storage and for the Dawn Gateway volumes.  Any other participant in the market could have done the same.  And the other four did, obviously.  

     MR. BAKER:  It's a good point that storage that is sold in Michigan by DTE or otherwise; they do that via an open season and all customers have an opportunity to bid for that storage.  

     MR. KAISER:  You say -- I might have missed this -- that you, Union or Spectra, I suppose have contracted for Michigan storage?  

     MR. BAKER:  We have not completed the contract for the storage, but it is our intention to link the storage with this transportation on Dawn Gateway.  

     MR. KAISER:  Now, given that you are participating in this open season, I guess when people participate in open season it is non-binding.  You are not committed to it.  It is just an expression of interest?  

     I am just trying to figure out what the weight of -- let's suppose, as Mr. Thompson suspects -- he may be entirely wrong that you're the 100,000 guy -- I am trying to figure out what the importance of an expression of interest to yourself is.

     MR. BAKER:  To be clear. these contracts with these five parties, they are binding contracts.  There may be conditions attached to them.  But they have moved from a binding or from a non-binding expression of interest to a binding precedent agreement or contract.  

     MR. KAISER:  So you could, by way of example, have a binding contract conditional upon your being able to purchase storage?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  That would match those volumes?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  In terms of the benefits to the Ontario market, which you have spoken about in that regard, can we conclude from your actions that there is insufficient storage at Dawn to meet the requirements of the Ontario marketplace?

     MR. BAKER:  We think there is still a strong demand for storage at Dawn with what is going on in the Ontario market, and the gas-fired power plants and parties that continue to look to come back to Dawn for short-haul transportation to move volumes east.  So yes, we feel there is still additional demand for storage at Dawn.  

     MR. KAISER:  Because you could be using this just to trade with MichCon or alternatively you could say we need additional storage in Ontario for Ontario customers.  Are you telling me it is the latter that is driving -- 

     MR. BAKER:  This would be storage in Ontario for customers looking to storage -- not necessarily just Ontario customers, it could be US customers that are looking to come back to Dawn in contract for Dawn-based storage.

     MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose they're US customers.  How does this help Ontario customers, as you have suggested?  

     MR. BAKER:  When I look at it, the way it helps them is it is trying to attract additional gas supply through this path, whether it is storage volumes moving from Michigan into Ontario or it is new gas supplies that I spoke about coming from the Rockies supplier or down south, coming through Ontario.

     MR. KAISER:  So it just makes Dawn a more liquid hub?

     MR. BAKER:  A more liquid point.  There is more volumes coming into and through Dawn, which gives customers greater options, increases liquidity at the Dawn Trading Hub.

     MR. KAISER:  So arguably, it could be important even if you didn't have a matching storage contract?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have a matching storage contract?  The answer to Board Staff No. 1 at page 3 suggests that you do.

     MR. BAKER:  We have not executed that contract yet.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  What's this sentence mean:   

"Both the storage and Dawn Gateway transportation contracts are conditional on the project proceeding."

That means they're unexecuted or they are executed with conditions?  

     MR. BAKER:  We probably could have been a bit clearer.  We have executed the transportation contract.  We have not executed the storage contract.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But is one in the midst of negotiation or finalization?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it back-to-back for 100,000?  Or are -- sorry, is it back-to-back with your volumes on the Dawn Gateway?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.  The storage and the transportation volumes would be linked.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of this project if it proceeds as planned, am I correct that the transportation on Dawn Gateway will not be subject to this Board's STAR rule?  STAR applies to OEB-regulated utilities; is that your understanding?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And one of the tenets of that rule or proposed rule -- I don't think it has been finalized yet -- one of them is non-discriminatory open access.  Right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And one of the tenets of that rule or proposed rule -- I don't think it has been finalized yet -- one of them is non-discriminatory open-access; right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So how do we know that the tolls that are going to be paid on this line for these five people are non-discriminatory?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That same principle actually is embedded within the NEB Act, as well.  So the NEB reviews this project -- that is certainly one of the principles they're looking at.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So if somebody wants to find out -- and I assume this stuff would be filed in confidence -- whether the five shippers are paying tolls that are non-discriminatory, that information is going to have to be produced, right?


MR. BAKER:  If that's something that the NEB feels they need, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But in terms of consumer interests, are you aware that the NEB doesn't have any cost award regime?  As a practical matter, you don't have any consumer -- I am talking about small "C" consumer =- representatives in NEB proceedings?


Are you aware of that?


MR. BAKER:  That they're precluded from participating?  Sorry, I am having a hard time hearing you.


MR. THOMPSON:  If they don't have cost awards, then they can't be there.  So as far as consumers, the smaller ratepayer groups, are concerned, the OEB is the opportunity for transparency, because there are cost awards here.


Would you agree with that?





MR. BAKER:  I would agree that this Board has interest to protect the consumers of Ontario.  But there is transparency, full transparency, in terms of the services that are provided to customers in Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, how is this Board going to know whether the concepts of its STAR rule are going to be complied with, if this project goes ahead, without knowing, first, what the NEB is going to do?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The NEB regulates a lot of assets in and around Ontario, including Vector and TransCanada and some other crossings which have the same issues you are bringing forward.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there any need -- this really comes to your request to have something approved now, and then left for implementation in December 2013, when something approved a little later, once it becomes clear how the NEB is going to respond to your application to -- be just as good as far as Union is concerned.  Do we really need this approval to issue today?


MR. BAKER:  We need it today so that we know whether we have the basis on which to proceed with the project.  I say where the transparency comes in, too, for customers in Ontario is that there are a lot of pipelines coming into Dawn.  We have Vector.  You have TransCanada.  There is a lot of pipelines coming in there today, and that creates the transparency and the competitive market for those customers to purchase supply at Dawn today.  Typically, we don't see in-franchise end-use customers looking to contracts long-term and reach back beyond Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on.


In your evidence-in-chief, you talked about the tolls today on a -- as I understood it, on sort of a segmented basis from Belle River to Dawn, including fuel, as being out of the market or something to that effect.


Do we have any numbers on that?


MR. BAKER:  In terms of fuel rate, the fuel rate on the Michigan side is -- I believe it is 1.42 percent, and the fuel on Union's side, on the Ontario side, is -- I believe it is 0.43 or thereabouts.  So that was my reference this morning to it as close to 2 percent fuel.


MR. THOMPSON:  I thought you were talking about taking a posted toll for each of these segments and adding them up.  But you were just talking about fuel, were you?


MR. BAKER:  I was talking about fuel as being the principal consideration in terms of the economics of moving gas between Michigan and Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the evidence indicates, as I understand it, that the joint venture is going to be applying to the Michigan regulator to get some relief on fuel charges; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  It is to provide a specific fuel rate for the Belle River Mills to Dawn service.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what is it expected to do to the 1.42 percent?  Bring it down to something comparable to what Union has?


MR. BAKER:  It is really to look at what the fuel rate should be on that integrated path from Belle River Mills to Dawn.  So relative to the, you know, roughly 1.9 percent today, we would look to see that come down as low as we could get it.  That represented the actual fuel costs that we would use to move gas on that path.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is that approximately expected to be, if you get what you are asking for?


MR. BAKER:  Hopefully something in the 0.4, 0.5 percent range.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is the Dawn Gateway project conditional on that result being achieved at the Michigan Public Utility Commission?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BAKER:  There is a couple of things DTE is looking to do on the Michigan side.  One of the things they're looking to do is to attract volumes across their system on their transmission system.  Right now, they have a system-wide fuel rate, not just Belle River Mills to the river, but a system-wide fuel rate on their transmission system of that 1.42 percent.


So one of the things that they are doing is applying to the Michigan Public Service Commission to get that rate reduced -- I believe it is to 1 percent -- for transportation capacity coming into Belle River Mills.  


So there is a couple of things that are being done to try to approve the attractiveness and fuel rate in order to attract volumes through Michigan to Belle River Mills, and then through the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture to Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  My question was:  Is the Dawn Gateway project conditional on that fuel ratio relief being obtained from the Michigan Commission?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Within the NEB evidence, Tab Q, this is actually a precedent agreement that was signed by the five parties.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, Tab 2, did you say?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Pardon me?


MR. THOMPSON:  Tab 2?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm sorry.  The second binder, I think.


Page 3, under 4, "Shipper Condition Precedent", condition precedent B at the bottom of page 3 and going on to the top of page 4 is a condition that shippers at Gateway have in regards to fuel rate upstream of Gateway being changed on MichCon's system.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  So -- and that deadline date has passed, so do you have that relief?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The MichCon has made the filing to the MPSC.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what are you telling me?  These deals are off now?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, no.  Shippers are okay with the current status.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what's the deadline now in 4(b)?  It is not May 15th, 2009.  It must be another date.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure.  DTE would be managing that, but the question you asked is:  Is it conditional?  And the answer is:  Yes, it is conditional.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if that relief is not granted from Michigan, then the whole thing is not going ahead?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Unless a shipper wanted to waive that condition, but at this point it would be conditional. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just to nail this down, in the response to OEB question 1, the evidence indicates that Dawn Gateway will not go ahead if it doesn't get federal jurisdiction.


What you seem to be saying here is the shippers may not go ahead if they don't get that low fuel ratio, but they could?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  My question is:  Is Dawn Gateway going ahead if they don't get that low ratio?  Or is it all up to the shippers?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, if the shippers do not proceed with the precedent agreement, and no longer were under contract, then obviously Gateway would not have enough volume in their contract.  At that point, it would be the call of Dawn Gateway to go back to the market, another open season or go further at risk and go forward.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So Dawn Gateway may go ahead, even if they don't get that low ratio, is what I hear you saying?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  All this is saying is the shippers have the condition precedent, whether it didn't go ahead or not.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     I think I covered most of the other points.  You mentioned agreement between Union and the joint venture to sell the St. Clair Line.  I understood an official agreement has now been signed.  Is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Purchase and sale agreement?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, has that been filed with the Board?  That's what you're asking this Board to approve, I gather?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  It has not been filed, to my knowledge. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Should it be filed?  It seems to me -- 

     MS. WONG:  Are you asking for it to be filed, Mr. Thompson?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think I am.  That's specifically what you're asking the Board to approve; is that correct?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  I don't think we have a problem with filing it.

     MS. WONG:  We would ask, however, it be held in confidence and that it be a confidential filing.  There are confidentiality provisions in the agreement itself and there is some confidential information in the document.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  I have no problem with that.

     MS. COCHRANE:  So that will be Confidential Undertaking X1.2.  I know I referred to the earlier one as C, but they are supposed to be X.  I have been corrected on that.  So this is X1.2.

     MS. WONG:  Are we changing the other one to X1.1?

     MS. COCHRANE:  Yes, the other one will be X1.1, and that was the cost of the Dawn to Bickford Line.  My apologies for the confusion.  

CONFIDENTIAL UNDERTAKING NO. X1.2:  PROVIDE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT FOR SALE OF ST. CLAIR LINE.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. 

Chairman.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, I want to leave you with one question over the lunch break.  

     You have said that this deal is conditional on your obtaining NEB jurisdiction, particularly the category 2, and the reason for that is that you have said to make this deal work, you need to offer fixed long-term contracts To at least five shippers.  And that, you said, is inconsistent with cost-of-service regulation.  That position, I understand.

     Is it inconsistent, however, with compliance with STAR rules or STAR-like rules?  And put differently, if the Board was concerned with those protections, is one of the options open to us and acceptable to you to condition approval of the application on compliance with certain rules that would provide those protections?

Maybe you can think of that over the lunch break.  

     MR. BAKER:  Okay, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  We will come back in an hour.  

     MS. WONG:  Mr. Chairman, just before you break, I presume that the witnesses can speak to one another to discuss the evidence?

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, what is your position on that?

MR. THOMPSON:  I have no problem with that. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:24 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MS. WONG:  Mr. Chairman, before we start, if I could just raise a couple of matters with you.  One is I was hoping you might be able to go over the confidentiality requirements, because I am not sure everyone in the room is familiar with them.  And if we could make arrangements to just have the lawyers, in particular, who are going to sign the agreement, sign it, and if they could be advised not to share the content of the material with their clients?


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to, Ms. Cochrane, go over the requirements briefly?


MS. COCHRANE:  I don't have a copy of the actual agreement with me right now.  I will obtain a copy for all of the counsel to sign, but that is my understanding, as well.  The counsel who are signing the -- giving the undertaking of confidentiality are the only ones viewing the confidentially filed documents.  That means not divulging to their clients the content.


MR. KAISER:  I take it that none of these documents are signed and distributed to this point.   Can we make arrangements to have that done so the confidential material can be distributed?


MS. COCHRANE:  Yes, I will get that, if not by end of today, first thing in the morning.


MR. KAISER:  Let's see if we can do better than that.  Let's see if we can at least get it by the break and sign all of these people up so they can have the material.


MS. WONG:  I am advised, sir, that there is a representative of Enbridge in the room, and clearly we would not want the documents revealed to Enbridge.


MR. KAISER:  Who is here from Enbridge?


Thank you.  So we will proceed on that basis.  You will obtain copies of the document; distribute it to counsel.  Counsel will sign it, make a record and provide that list to counsel for Union, who will then distribute the confidential information to those people who have executed the document.


MS. WONG:  Thank you, sir.  Then the only other matter is you asked Mr. Baker to consider that question.


MR. KAISER:  I did.


MS. WONG:  I think he is prepared to answer the question now.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.

Mr. Baker?


MR. BAKER:  Thank you.

The first thing I wanted to say is that I can't sit here today and commit to anything on behalf of the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture, so I did want to say that at the outset.  But to try to be helpful to the Board, what I would say in response to your question, Mr. Chairman, is that -- is the conditions that we think or we believe would be relevant to the Board in looking at that issue are that, as we have said, Dawn Gateway will be an open-access pipeline.


We think it should really be with the NEB to decide those types of matters.


Dawn Gateway is also, as you have heard, going to be an at-risk pipeline, which is why we're seeking Group 2 regulation.  The one aspect that Dawn Gateway we believe would be concerned about is price disclosure, given the fact that it is an at-risk pipeline.


What I would say, further, on price disclosure and transparency, is that on a go-forward basis the price or value of the service does exist in the market every day.  So when parties or shippers, customers, are looking whether they want to hold or contract for transportation, they will look at what the market value is, in this case between Michigan and Dawn.


That's published every day on various bulletin boards, various publications, and that's what they would look at in order to make a determination in terms of what the value of that transportation service or path is and what value they would presumably be willing to pay for it in the market.


So just because you don't have some disclosure of historical contracts doesn't mean that you don't have transparency, in terms of the price or the value of that service going forward.


I think the last thing, from a Dawn Gateway perspective, is that we would -- we would want to be considered or treated consistently with other Group 2 pipelines, as well, that the NEB regulates.  But I think our primary -- the primary concern on behalf of Dawn Gateway would be around price.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I think the -- I understand the wish to be treated similar to other Group 2, but, as you recall from NGEIR, this Board always had a concern that Union was in both storage and transportation markets and there could be some discrimination as a result of that relationship, which is -- may not apply in all other cases.  


But in any event, we have your answer on that and other counsel can follow up.  I just wanted to get your position on the record as soon as possible.  Thank you for that.


Mr. Quinn, are you ready to go?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, sir.  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, panel.  Dwayne Quinn.  I am representing the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario, and my colleague Mr. Thompson has canvassed a number of the areas that I was going to go over very adeptly, so I am hoping to tie up some loose ends from the questions he had, and hopefully explore some more understanding in some areas we weren't touching on.


I guess the first area is the area of asset utilization.


Our friends from GAPLO had submitted the original St. Clair Line application.  You don't need to turn that up at this point, because, simply put, I guess I wanted to verify the original St. Clair Line application and the justification for that project was based upon differences that the company could achieve in terms of system gas sales costs.  Is that your understanding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was part of the justification, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So now we recognize the world has changed since that time, and that's not part of the justification you are bringing forward, and I respect that.


But I guess my question is:  We have a pipeline in place, and obviously, from the responses to interrogatories -- which we're going to cover later on -- it is my understanding that that pipe is not meeting its rate of return on investment; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  I think that is what you were offering at the outset, Mr. Baker, and I appreciate that.


Now, what I was trying to explore in Interrogatory No. 6 -- maybe it is a good time to turn that up, because I will be referring to it, FRPO Interrogatory No. 6, which was part of the earlier discussion.


 MR. BAKER:  If I could just ask you perhaps if you can just to try to speak into the microphone?  We're having a really tough time hearing up here with the air conditioning behind us.  That would be very helpful.


MR. QUINN:  Do you have that?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, we do.


MR. QUINN:  In the interrogatory, I was trying to get at this understanding of what the rate of return is on the pipe.  We got most of the way there.  But I understand from the response that was given that the actual margins from revenues and the actual determined rate of return are not available, because Union does not allocate the operating and maintenance costs to individual parts of its pipeline system.


Possibly, Mr. Tetreault or other panel members, if you can tell me what the allocator is for transportation and operating costs?


MR. TETREAULT:  I am not sure I have that in front of me, Mr. Quinn, what the allocated transport costs might be.


MR. QUINN:  But there is an allocator that would be part of your cost-of-service filing, done at the most recent cost-of-service filing?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Can you tell me what that allocator is?


MR. TETREAULT:  I am not sure I have that information in front of me here today.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MR. BAKER:  I would say that there is information, whether it is totally consistent with the cost study or not, but in the valuation study that we talked about this morning, there were costs that were identified there in terms of insurance and property and capital taxes, and those sorts.


MR. QUINN:  Well, that's helpful, Mr. Baker, because I was considering that after that additional information came on the record this morning.


I am wondering if that table could be actually completed using the information that is part of that study.  To the extent that that is indicative of operating and maintenance costs for the pipelines, could that table be extended and we get a rate of return for those respective years?


MR. TETREAULT:  I think, Mr. Quinn, we could try to do that.  I am not sure we will get to the level of detail necessarily that you are seeking, but we could attempt to do that.


MR. QUINN:  I will clarify that I am not really looking for a level of detail, just a comparison of the approved rate of return versus what this pipeline would be, indicative of the revenues that you achieved over the last five years.  It doesn't have to be precise, and any caveats I would respect that are part of not being precise. 


MR. TETREAULT:  We will see what we can do.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I guess one other way that I considered it as trying to get an understanding here is there was a response to a Board Staff --


MS. WONG:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, just before you go on, perhaps we should get an undertaking number on that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE RATE OF RETURN.


MR. QUINN:  If you would turn up the Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, if you would, please?


Now, Board Staff, in this interrogatory, had asked the question about what would the impact be of removing the St. Clair Line?  And there was a determination of approximately $400,000 under the earnings sharing mechanism calculation.  

     Could you tell me how that was derived, and how operating and maintenance costs were considered in that derivation?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That earnings sharing calculation was derived by removing the transportation revenues and the costs, and rate base associated with the St. Clair Line assets to attempt to provide the earnings sharing calculation that you see there.  

     I believe, within that calculation was an allocation of O&M costs.  

     MR. QUINN:  Would that allocation of costs be different than what was presented in the confidential exhibit or the exhibit from this morning on the valuation of the pipeline?

     MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know.  I would need to follow up on that.  

     MR. QUINN:  Well, I am not wanting to add additional undertakings, but could you provide, in that same undertaking that we just had there, what the impact would be or what the rate of return would be if you used the methodology in responding to Board Staff versus what the rate of return would be using the valuation methodology that your consultants provided?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think we can take a look at that.  Again, I am not sure we will be able to get to the granularity you may be seeking, but we can attempt it. 

     MR. QUINN:  Once again, the position is not important.  Just a robust calculation.  Thank you.  

     Just for, by way of understanding, because we have just touched on the earnings sharing mechanism, and it is always a concern for ratepayers in the new world we're entering into, obviously Union Gas is investing some time with its partners in bringing this proposal to bear and ultimately trying to bring it to the market.  

     How is Union handling the costs for staff represented here today and ultimately those people who actually would be involved in the building of the project?  

     MR. BAKER:  There is a service agreement that we have to cover the work that we're doing on behalf of the Dawn Gateway project.  

     MR. QUINN:  Now, I respect that the expertise represented here and certainly in building a pipeline is quite specialized.  Are those -- does that service agreement called for cost-based rates or market rates for those services?  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn, is your question really whether the costs of this application being are borne by the ratepayers?  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  The corporate structure provided by Union was helpful this morning.  I was trying to work through it during the weekend and I was trying to understand in the situation like we're heading into where more applications might be deemed to be an unregulated portion of the business, how are ratepayers being protected to ensure there is value return to ratepayers as a result of the activities of corporate staff.  

     MR. BAKER:  I would say two things.  For the work that we've been doing to date, would what I would call predevelopment on behalf of the project, there is a service level agreement in place and those costs will be charged to Dawn Gateway.  

     I would also say that we're very much looking at this project as well as a project that is going to bring value to Ontario and the Ontario ratepayers.  So this isn't just a question of selling an asset to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture and there not being any value associated to that, to the ratepayers of Ontario, because I truly believe that there will, by what I was saying this morning, in terms of trying to work to attract new supplies up into Ontario to give additional volume, price discovery, volumes coming into Dawn.  So there is clearly a ratepayer value associated with this project.

But to your original point, we will have a service level agreement for the predevelopment work that is being done.

     MR. QUINN:  And the extension of that question:  Is that in market rates? 

     MR. BAKER:  That is fully allocated costs. 

     MR. QUINN:  Fully allocated, so it is cost rates.  

You elaborated, Mr. Baker, in terms of the benefit to ratepayers.  I think we heard some of that this morning, but part of what you just referred to was price discovery.  And I guess that's where Mr. Thompson was having some trouble this morning, in terms of price discovery.  

     While we understand that there is a desire to keep parties' businesses confidential, I guess from our perspective the business of the utility still is in public purview.  So to the extent that Union is an entity that is providing service to Ontario, and I understand is going to be a shipper on this Dawn Gateway proposal, how is it we are able to determine the value of that service vis-a-vis other alternatives that Union Gas may have had?  

     MR. BAKER:  Again, what I was trying to say this morning was Union's capacity position on the Dawn Gateway pipeline is not -- not in the context of a regulated contract that's going to have any impact on the ratepayers.  It’s part and parcel of our unregulated storage business and trying to physically move additional Michigan storage to Dawn.

     MR. QUINN:  So as part of the unregulated storage services provided, my understanding is -- and Mr. Tetreault maybe can provide better clarity for us -- is that the costs of providing storage services are still integrated in the Union Gas costing for the purposes of setting rates?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  If I understand your question correctly, I think the -- subject to check, the Board-approved cost study forms the basis for regulated rates right now, takes a combined view of everything and there is an allocation, if you will, to the -- of costs to the unregulated business.

     MR. BAKER:  But this would be a separate contract, separate from -- because it is not assets that we have on the ground.  This would be a separate contract that would be -- would be treated separately and track separately so that it would have no impact on in-franchise rates.  

     MR. QUINN:  Maybe I don't understand how that is accomplished.

     To the extent that Union is providing an unregulated service, to Mr. Tetreault's point, that would actually form part of the overall costs for storage services and then an allocator then distributes that cost between in-franchise and ex-franchise?

You are shaking your head, Mr. Baker.  Maybe you could help me with that.  

     MR. BAKER:  I am just saying that is not the way it will work going forward.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Quinn, you were talking about existing costs, whereas Mr. Baker is talking about a new cost related to the unregulated storage business.  That's the distinction there.

     MR. QUINN:  And the distinction is going to result in that service being only utilized for unregulated services and not in any way co-mingled with the services that are part of the integrated Dawn Storage Pool?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I trust you are able to achieve that and I guess we can get clarity in the deferral account discussions that we left off on a couple of months ago.  So I will leave that for review at a subsequent time.  

     So to the extent that Union is moving forward and it is keeping this cost separate, there is, I guess, no -- what I am understanding you to say is there is no ratepayer impacts, so there will be no discovery in terms of what the cost Union is paying for that service is?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. QUINN:  Beyond the storage that has been discussed already, and I understood -- I think the term was back-to-back, the transportation rates and storage rates in Michigan, I don't want to put words in your mouth, Mr. Baker, but are you saying that what is being tentatively or being negotiated as a contract for storage in Michigan would be exactly the daily volumes, that deliverability would be available in terms of transportation rates on the Dawn Gateway pipeline?  

     MR. BAKER:  I'm sorry.  I am having a really hard time hearing.  I think I am catching about every third word and I apologize, but --

     MR. QUINN:  I will lean forward and try it again.  You had indicated this morning that Union was in negotiations for Michigan storage.  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. QUINN:  And that Michigan storage has certain rights associated with it.  And the assumption I was making from what you said is the deliverability out of that storage would be exactly the same as the capacity rights on the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.  Is that accurate?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  We would be looking for that to be a matched service, that's right.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  My question is:  Beyond that storage capacity, does Union at this time hold any capacity rights in Michigan?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  In Michigan?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes. 

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, your question was do we hold any -- sorry, did you say storage capacity or transportation capacity?

MR. QUINN:  Storage capacity.


MR. BAKER:  Today we have a storage contract, again, as part of our unregulated storage operation with Washington 10.


MR. QUINN:  And I trust, based upon your previous answer, that all of those costs are kept separate from the regulated entity?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Further, then, in that area of development, I understand you are developing the Heritage Pool?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Is that considered to be totally unregulated in terms of its funding and subsequent accounting?


MR. BAKER:  Well, it's definitely an unregulated storage investment, if that is your question.


MR. QUINN:  So it would be run separate from the integrated storage pool at Dawn?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BAKER:  I think the difference here, relative to a storage contract, is that this one will be -- the Heritage Pool, because it is a physical development in Ontario, it will be tied in and integrated into Dawn, and so therefore the capital costs will be separately tracked and allocated, but there will probably be some allocation of cost toward that project through the integrated cost study.


MR. QUINN:  Maybe this would be helpful.  In your prefiled evidence, if you wouldn't mind turning up schedule A, which is the simple diagram of the pipeline on the Ontario side?


 MR. BAKER:  We have it.


MR. QUINN:  Do you have that?  Could you locate on that map the approximate location of the Heritage Pool?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe it's -- relative to the St. Clair Line station, it would be east, southeast of that station.


MR. QUINN:  Do you have any sense of distance between the St. Clair Line and that Heritage Pool?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I think part of your cross-examination was the Heritage evidence, was it not?


MR. QUINN:  Not mine.  I believe Board Staff.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Oh, under GAPLO.  It would be in there.


MR. QUINN:  Do you have a reference, by chance?  I do remember seeing it myself, but I don't have a specific reference.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  1.9 kilometres.


MR. QUINN:  All right, thank you.


Now, to the extent that Heritage Pool is developed, would it be Union's intent to tie the Heritage Pool into the Dawn Gateway Line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's actually tied directly into the Sarnia industrial line, but it does have access -- it's at the same station where Gateway can actually take into -- or the industrial line.  Gateway is tied into the Sarnia industrial line, but has access through Sarnia's industrial line into Dawn Gateway, or vice versa.


MR. QUINN:  I guess my specific question would be:  Could the Heritage Pool utilize the Dawn Gateway for getting back to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially.


MR. QUINN:  How would it pay for that service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would have to buy the service from Dawn Gateway.


MR. QUINN:  So if it's buying a service from Dawn Gateway, how does it know the value of the service to determine if it has got better alternatives?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will say there is two options.  One option is, to the extent we're not using the full volume from Belle River Mills to Dawn, if, for example, the storage contracted for in Michigan is not fully on that given day, then there is a potential to use Dawn Gateway contracts we already have.  That's option one, and probably the more likely the option.  


Option two would be the service off Dawn Gateway, whether it is interruptible or firm in nature.


MR. QUINN:  But, again, in making a choice of an alternative, if those are some of the alternatives it is presented with, how would it know what the costs of that service would be relative to its alternatives?


MR. BAKER:  We would bid on the service in an open season.


MR. QUINN:  So it would have to be on an open-season basis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or negotiated.


MR. QUINN:  This would still be integrated with your Dawn operations, then?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So, again, to the extent there isn't an understanding of the cost, how do ratepayers know what Heritage is choosing and what -- if it had better alternatives in terms --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But if Heritage chooses to use Dawn Gateway, it would not be a ratepayer cost.


MR. QUINN:  So it would only be for unregulated activities?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.


MR. QUINN:  That are rolled at this time currently into the storage costs?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Into Heritage.


MR. QUINN:  Into Heritage, storage costs which are integrated as I -- if I understood the answer before, integrated in with the Dawn storage costs?


MR. TETREAULT:  No.  I was specifically speaking to the 2007 cost study and how costs were allocated there, not speaking about new investment.


MR. BAKER:  The idea going forward is all new unregulated storage will be tracked separately.  So any costs associated, whether they are specific, like the capital costs or transportation cost on Dawn Gateway, or wherever, to move that storage to Dawn will be tracked and accounted for separately.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because Heritage would be allocated costs to integrate into the Union system, it is unlikely it would pay incrementally to use Dawn Gateway unless there is some operating reason to do that.  It is hard to be allocated, because if you think of it being allocated costs to use the Union Gas system on an integrated basis, any incremental, that would be additional costs, you would avoid that unless there is some operating reason to do that.


MR. QUINN:  I am going to say that answer back to you and tell me if I heard you correctly.


Because it has already incurred some costs for Union using the Union Gas system, it wouldn't turn to Dawn Gateway as an incremental cost in its range of choices?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Unless there is an operating reason to do it.


MR. QUINN:  Who was going to be operating that system, the Dawn Gateway system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, the operating reason would be a Heritage reason, not a Gateway reason.  If Heritage had an operational advantage to using Gateway, whether it is pressure or whatever, then it would be a decision that Heritage would make, not Gateway.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So specifically who will be operating the Dawn Gateway line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Dawn Gateway is being operated through DTE.


MR. QUINN:  So they will be responsible for the establishment of pressures through the regulation, whatever pressure control systems are on the pipeline?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  What I think I might do is shift in a little bit different area, and it's back to where Mr. Thompson was going this morning.


I was listening for an answer I didn't hear, and maybe there was a reason.


So the question -- we've talked about what the cost of the pipeline would be from Bickford through to Dawn, and I understand Union is going to be providing that information under the confidentiality agreements here.  But what I did not hear was what the return would be on that pipeline, and the whole project, based upon the value of the negotiated contracts.  


Is that something that Union is prepared to provide either here on the record or through a confidentiality agreement?


MS. WONG:  No, Mr. Quinn.  Our position is that that information is not relevant to anything before the Board today, and that it is, as I said, not relevant and certainly contains a lot of confidential information.


MR. QUINN:  I trust that you have your reasons in terms of why the confidentiality of information must be maintained.  But to the extent that we have a pipeline that has on the record under-performed relative to expectations, my understanding is you are willing to take this as an at-risk pipeline, and, from our history in discussing some of these things relative to NGEIR and other matters, Union is looking for a higher rate of return on at-risk investments than it is on utility investments.


So I guess my concern is, to the extent that we have a pipeline that has under-performed, now it is potentially going to over-perform relative to your rate of return.

I guess my belief would be that it would be in the ratepayers' interest to understand what Union sees as the fairness in that proposal relative to ratepayers, in terms of getting back some of the return for the years it was underperforming.  

     MS. WONG:  The issue before the Board, before the Ontario Energy Board is whether or not the proposal being put forward will be of benefit and whether it will be any harm to the current ratepayers.  Whether or not Spectra -- which is not Union Gas -- but whether or not Spectra, who is going to be the purchaser of the line, is going to be making a profit and the amount of that profit is really, in my respectful submission, not at all relevant to anything the Board has to decide as to whether or not the proposal being put forward to sell the line is of benefit.  

     MR. QUINN:  Well, I appreciate, Ms. Wong, you've got some experience that certainly does exceed mine in this area, and at the same time, we did have a communication on the issue of no harm and I guess, from our ratepayer perspective, no harm does not come down to the simple point of:  This is no harm to ratepayers.

But my question is:  Are there better alternatives that are not being reviewed or proposed that would provide the ratepayers a greater interest and greater equity given the circumstances?  

     MS. WONG:  Well, Union's position is that whether or not there could have been better proposals is, once again, not at issue for this Board. 

     The proposal on the table is the proposal on the table, and there is nothing in the Issues List that requires the Board to look at whether or not there could have been better proposals.

     MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess that was my expansion of the no harm test as we discussed, but I will leave it to the Board to determine whether that is seen to be an issue relative to this Board in terms of ratepayers and their rights, based upon the substantiated investment of the pipeline, to have some benefits of the return of this proposal that Union is advancing at this time.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I am not following you completely, Mr. Quinn.  

     I think I understand that one of the issues will be whether the no harm test as we traditionally define it applies here.  But certainly the Board has, in the past, said that it will look at the transaction before to -- not some other hypothetical transaction that might earn a greater return.  But your theory of your question seems to be that there has been a loss here over some number of years, which the utility has acknowledged.  

     And somehow if, in this future configuration, Union or 

Spectra makes some money by creating a new type of business, if you will, with some additional investment, a substantial new piece of pipeline being thrown in and under -- possibly regulated at the NEB somehow, the future profits of that should be clawed back to compensate ratepayers for the losses in the past; is that your argument?

     MR. QUINN:  That's very close, sir.  But I would add, in the realm of hypothetical to actual, Union has -- Dawn Gateway has numbers that will provide a basis for what the value of that pipe would be going forward, and that is what we may ultimately see.

     MR. KAISER:  That is Mr. Thompson's point, I think.  He is arguing about replacement costs, I think, as opposed to net book value.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  Is that not the same thing?  Or you have a different theory?  Your theory is that the value is somehow related to the future profitability, not replacement?  Sort of a third alternative?  

     MR. QUINN:  That's correct, sir.  And in that calculation or determination of the value at this time, there should be a difference between its -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Here is my problem.  I may not be following this.  What this application seeks is leave of the Board to sell one specific piece of pipe, the St. Clair Line, right?

     The profitability of the St. Clair Line will necessarily change because it's going to become a much longer point-to-point line going from the middle of the river to Dawn.  It's not comparable to the existing line that we're talking about.  

     So I am having trouble understanding, even if we could predict it or estimate it, what the profitability of the future project has to do with the losses on the existing project, which is much smaller.  

     MR. QUINN:  Sir, I take your point, and I will finish my submissions in this area to say Spectra has some choices in terms of how it is directing Union to manage its assets.  

     We have a situation where, in this new world of storage, unregulated and regulated, we're trying to work out how does the parent manage the Ontario-based assets that it has under its control.  And to the extent that alternatives are not considered whereby the ratepayers can share in that value, but more, in our view, a disproportionate -- in our view, disproportionate value ends up with the shareholder, and I will have to submit this in argument later on.  There has to be concern from the ratepayer point of view, which is:  Are we getting our fair return on assets that may have been underutilized over time but in this case here will end up experiencing super-normal rate of return, and is there not some equity that the ratepayers would have in that pipeline that they would share in the value at the time of, in this case, the sale, if the Board were to choose to allow them leave to sale?

     MR. KAISER:  And I think really you end up much closer to Mr. Thompson, who says:  Let's look at the value of the pipe, this pipe, if you can figure it out.  We can figure out the replacement value.  They're going to calculate them.  They're going to tell him what it costs to build this amount of pipe now because they’re going to build a new section and he’s going to multiply the relevant kilometres so you find a replacement value, but you sort of have a different theory, sort of the profitability of that piece of pipe in the new configuration, and that somehow the ratepayers are entitled to receive some of that profit because they have been suffering some losses in the old days.

     MR. QUINN:  That would be -- 

     MR. KAISER:  I think you can argue that, if you want.  I am not sure that we'll get much in the way of additional quantitative data out of Union on that, just because it’s difficult to estimate, I expect.

MR. QUINN:  I will accept that, sir, and I will constrain it again to say my concern is some people may view replacement value as a moot point because in what is being proposed, the line won't be replaced.  So paying back ratepayers for a pipeline that isn't going to be needed doesn't seem to have an equity or principled approach to the commercial aspect of what they're doing.  That is my concern.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir, I will move on to another area.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, can I make sure my position is not being misunderstood in this discussion?  

     I mentioned replacement cost.  That is one method of looking at the value.  Just so you understand where I am coming from here, and it goes to defining what's the status quo, because you have to measure harm from a status quo situation.

     What is running through, in my mind, is this:  Suppose 

TransCanada had proposed the Dawn Gateway line, subject to acquiring or leasing the Belle River assets, subject to acquiring the St. Clair crossing, subject to acquiring the St. Clair Line and then building the Bickford to Dawn.  

     Would Union sell those assets to TransCanada at book?  I would say no way.  It is going to be something other than book.  And that is for the replacement costs and the income evaluation and so on.

But I say that's where we look at:  Is this proposal versus the status quo better or worse?  I just wanted to make sure -- it is not purely replacement costs. 

     MR. KAISER:  I understood that.  And I think in fairness to Mr. Quinn, he was sort of wrestling with the notion to which you had touched on, that this piece they're selling in the new world has a profitability that is not being recognized --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right. 

     MR. KAISER:  -- by net book value. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  He was putting a slightly different gloss on it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I think you understand, because of the dialogue we had, our position in this matter which, again, will be subject to argument, but I guess I want to move from the individual discussion to assets that surround this pipeline and the impacts. 

     My understanding is that Bickford Pool compressor station is Union's compressor that helps manage the Bickford and Sombra Pools; is that accurate?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  As I understand it, there is MHP Pool that is coming off of that line. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  St. Clair Pool. 

     MR. QUINN:  St. Clair Pool.  When did that come into service?  

MR. ISHERWOOD:  2007, spring or summer of 2007.


MR. QUINN:  What impact did that pool coming on have on Union's ability to contract for firm space from Belle River through to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It had zero.


MR. QUINN:  So there was already an allocation that was set aside for the volumes that would be required out of that pool?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The pool is fed primarily -- entirely, I think, from Dawn through the Bickford Line both on the fill cycle and empty cycle.  So it is not really impacting the river to St. Clair path -- or river to Bickford path.


MR. QUINN:  But I understood from your evidence -- and you correct me if I am wrong -- is that because of the need to give priority to storage, injections and withdrawals, there was an inability by Union to be able to contract firm deliveries from Belle River to Dawn.


MR. BAKER:  No.  That wasn't...

     What I said this morning is there is the physical piece of pipe between Bickford and Dawn, and that is used for -- that is used primarily for storage purposes.


We're able to provide firm service from St. Clair to Dawn via an exchange with the Sarnia market.  That is how that works today.  So there is really no need to flow it physically today, because we can sell that service or offer that service via the Sarnia market exchange.


MR. QUINN:  And that's what you have been doing over the last number of years?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And that demonstrated in the revenues you achieved over the last five years, in that Interrogatory No. 6?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. QUINN:  So what percent of that Bickford Line does the MHP pool -- do -- the needs of the MH Pool, what percentage of that line are allocated to the MHP Pool?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't have that in front of me.  It would be very small.  That pool is a 1 Bcf pool and Bickford and Sombra are a fairly large pool, so it would be a fairly low number.


MR. QUINN:  Maybe I will ask the question from the history, then.  This may touch on the next witness -- from the table that was provided by Ms. Wong.  I understand this will be a subsequent witness, but my understanding is that wasn't always the case, that the line had more firm transportation on the Bickford Line through to Dawn, and it's been through the development of storage pools over time that that line has been constrained from a capacity point of view to allow Michigan gas to reach Dawn; is that accurate?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I remember reading some of the applications for the Bickford to Dawn back in the early '90s, and it was constrained, at least at that point, which was more than 10 years ago, 15 years ago.  


So I don't know if you go back further than that, Mr. Quinn, you might find a different operation, but it has been that way for a long time.


MR. BAKER:  I just want to make sure it's clear that there's been no real constraint on our ability to offer St. Clair to Dawn transportation, because if you look at the size of the Sarnia market and the exchange opportunity we have there, we've been able to satisfy all the requests for St. Clair to Dawn transportation via that market.  


So there has been no need -- there hasn't been a market need that's been greater than that that would even necessitate trying to flow gas physically through the Bickford to Dawn Line.


MR. QUINN:  I think I will defer some the questions on the previous application to the next panel, as the table had laid out.


But getting back to the Bickford and Sombra Pools, are these -- would these be categorized as high deliverability pools?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They were not the pools -- we did the high deliverability project a couple of years ago.  They were not the pools that we developed at all.


MR. QUINN:  So would they have a standard deliverability of 1.2 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know.


MR. QUINN:  I will defer that question to the next panel, then, also.


I guess the policy question on this:  To the extent that we are moving into this new world -- and I understand we're going to have to feel our way around what is appropriate and what is not appropriate to ask, so I am just going to ask it -- to the extent that Bickford and Sombra Pools will now have access to another line that is, in this case, the Dawn Gateway Line as proposed, my concern is what conditions should be put in place by this Board that would say if Union declared Bickford and Sombra to be surplus to its in-franchise needs, how would those pools be transferred?  


Would Union be proposing a similar type of process that they would get transferred at cost-based rates, or book value, I guess, is probably a better way of saying it?


MR. BAKER:  I guess I was trying to follow the question, but I thought what I heard you say is that Bickford and Sombra would be interconnected into Dawn Gateway, which is not the proposal.


MR. QUINN:  They would be proximate to one another, and in addition, a small amount of pipe could allow that interconnection; is that accurate?


MR. BAKER:  Whether you could or couldn't, our proposal is not to tie those pools into Dawn Gateway.  Dawn Gateway would be a separate line.


MR. QUINN:  At this point, then, hypothetically, moving forward, if Union were to see that as another opportunity to, in this case, shed surplus assets, surplus to in-franchise needs, would it be Dawn Gateway's or Spectra's position that those would be transferred also at book value?


MR. BAKER:  Again, the trouble I am having with the hypothetical is we have no proposal where we're looking to shed assets that are surplus to our needs.


I think in the storage decision, this Board determined that out of our roughly 150 Bcf of storage, there was an amount of 100 pJs, I believe, that was deemed allocated and dedicated to the in-franchise market, with the rest of it being unregulated.  And there is no proposal where we are looking to sell surplus storage assets out of Union.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn, I don't think we need to consider proposals that are not before the Board, let alone those that are not even contemplated by the Applicant.  That is not going to help us very much.


MR. QUINN:  I will accept that at this time, sir.  My last policy question for this panel would deal with the -- an area that Mr. Thompson was touching on earlier and what seems to be, just at a high level, a significant amount of Union Gas assets tied together with a smaller amount of DTE assets, and then a 50 percent sharing of the additional pipeline.


My specific question is:  Are there other deals that are tied to this deal between DTE and Spectra, where there are other considerations being exchanged between the parties to create this partnership?


MR. BAKER:  I would say a couple of things.  On the first part, is that the largest portion of the Dawn Gateway project really relates to the investment in new pipeline between Bickford and Dawn, and on that new investment, that is going to be shared under the 50/50 joint venture on an equal basis.


So DTE will have money at risk, in terms of this joint venture, to create that new pipeline capacity between Bickford and Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, you said there was a couple of things.  I was pausing to wait to hear the second.


MR. BAKER:  The second thing I would say in terms of -- when we looked at this project and trying to get additional utilization of the assets, it became clear to us that this was not something that Union could do on its own.  


We needed to get integration on the other side of the border.  That's why we started to have discussions with DTE.  So there is nothing else tied to this.


We are trying to work together as an initial step to develop this path and the integrated point-to-point service for all of the reasons that we have talked about.


But it is very much a sharing of risks and trying to get alignment between the Canadian and the US assets to be able to attract additional supply through Michigan and into Dawn.  That is the goal.


MR. QUINN:  So the summary of your response is there is no other contingent deal, based upon this successful bringing to bear?


MR. BAKER:  No.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Vogel, do you have questions?


MR. VOGEL:  Yes, I do, Mr. Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VOGEL:


MR. VOGEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Paul Vogel.  I represent the joint intervention of GAPLO and CAEPLA.


Mr. Baker, I think these questions are for you.  Referring to the prefiled evidence delivered by Union in support of its application, which is Exhibit K1.6 at page 2, paragraphs 8 and 9, Union sets out the various facilities to be comprised in the proposed Dawn Gateway line, and then at paragraph 9 expresses the expectation that the Ontario facilities, which would include the St. Clair Line which is the subject of this application, as part of the Dawn Gateway Line crossing the international border, would then be regulated by the NEB.  You told us that again this morning.  

     And I take it from Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1, at page 4, that the basis for that expectation is Union's understanding, as it is set out there on page 4, that the fact that Dawn Gateway Line will cross the international border and be operated as a single pipeline used to provide services outside of Ontario means that it must be NEB-regulated as a matter of constitutional law; is that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  But if we look at Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4, which references the Board's 1988 decision approving the construction of the St. Clair Line and its operation within the provincial jurisdiction, I also take it at page 3 of that response that Union agrees that the purpose of St. Clair Line, as it was proposed by Union in 1988 and as it was approved by the Board at that time, was that -- and as constructed and placed in service in 1989, was to provide a source of gas to Union's distribution system; is that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  My recollection is that at that time, the competitive gas market was just in its infancy.  At that time, we sourced primarily all of our gas from western Canada on TransCanada, and there was -- that the concept at that time was to try to get access to other US-sourced competitively-priced gas via this asset.  

     MR. VOGEL:  So as the project was proposed in 1988, as it was approved by the Board in 1988 and as constructed in 1989, it was to provide a source of gas to Union’s distribution system; is that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  Well, that was one of them.  I recall that one of the other reasons was to provide a security supply and backstop supply such that if our supply -- if our other supply got interrupted for whatever means by being interconnected to Michigan and DTE and MichCon, it could act as an emergency source or backstop supply as well. 

     MR. VOGEL:  You deal with that, I think, then, at page 2 in this interrogatory response where you're dealing with proposed uses and benefits of the St. Clair Line as it was proposed and approved in 1988, and that included interconnection to American pipeline facilities, access to additional supplies from US sources and to provide access to additional underground storage facilities.  Those are the additional uses and benefits of the line, as proposed and approved in 1988; correct?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  From page 3 of that response in the middle paragraph there, am I correct, then, that Union's position today is that it has, in fact, provided the benefits identified?

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?  

     MR. VOGEL:  Am I correct, then, that Union's position on this application is that the line, as proposed, as constructed for that purpose, for those uses and benefits, has, in fact, provided the benefits that you identified there? 

     MR. BAKER:  I think it’s provided it on a limited extent.  There is a physical interconnection.  So it was clearly there as a backstop supply.  

     But as time has gone on and other pipelines and capacities have been built into Ontario, we've not moved a lot of system gas or system gas purchases across that line.  So...

     MR. VOGEL:  There's been limitations on volume, but it has provided a source of gas for the distribution system.  It has provided an interconnection to American pipeline facilities, it has provided access to these additional supplies and it has provided access to additional underground storage in Michigan.

     MR. BAKER:  We have not contracted for -- we have not contracted for system supply coming across this line.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other point I would make is –- 

MR. VOGEL:  Sorry. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD: -- the Board, in its decision, had contemplated it was reasonable to assume that the distribution system could be severed off the new pipeline.  It was a reasonable thing to assume back in 1988 and 1989, but now 20 years later, clearly no distribution customers are served off that line.  It has not developed that way.  We have developed other infrastructure in the background in and around this line that serves distribution customers. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Fair enough.  It doesn't serve distribution customers and you haven't contracted for additional supplies, but other than that, it has provided what you anticipated back in 1988, subject to your qualification for volumes, but it has provided the source of distribution, it has provided the interconnection to the American pipeline facilities and it has provided the additional storage; is that correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  It's provided an interconnection between Michigan and Ontario.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  

     All right.  Then if we turn to Union’s 1988 application and prefiled evidence, then, which was the basis for the Board approval of the St. Clair Line as it was constructed and operated, you will find that in the GAPLO-Union prefiled evidence at Tab C1.

     Perhaps -- 

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, which evidence are you referring to?

     MR. VOGEL:  The GEAPLO-Union evidence, Tab C1.  Perhaps while we're at it, we should similarly mark this volume as an exhibit. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit K1.9.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  GAPLO-UNION EVIDENCE.

     MR. VOGEL:  In that volume, Mr. Baker, at Tab C1 -- 

     MS. WONG:  Mr. Vogel, the letters may not correspond, so perhaps you can just identify it by the name of the party that gave the evidence.  Because I don't think there’s -- I tabbed my book.  

     MR. VOGEL:  I see.  We are in the GAPLO-Union evidence, then, at Tab 1, attachment 1.  

     MR. BAKER:  I think we've got it.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And looking at the 1988 application in paragraph 3, again, the purpose of the application or at least the primary purpose of the application is as set out there, and as you just told us, was to allow Union increased access to US gas and Michigan storage; correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And turning to the prefiled evidence at page 1, paragraph 2. 

     MS. WONG:  Which prefiled evidence, sorry?  

     MR. VOGEL:  The same. 

     MS. WONG:  1988?  

     MR. VOGEL:  The 1988 prefiled evidence, the same attachment that we were just looking at is the application in the prefiled evidence from 1988.  So if you turn with me to page 1, paragraph 2 of your prefiled evidence, Union's prefiled evidence in 1988, the St. Clair Line was to interconnect with the St. Clair facilities and the MichCon facilities.  That's what was proposed in 1988; correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And as I understand it, both Union and St. Clair at that time were subsidiaries of Unicorp Canada Corporation; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And at paragraph 13 in that same prefiled evidence, I take it that from the time of this original application in 1988, it was always Union's intention that the St. Clair facilities, the river crossing, would be separately regulated by the National Energy Board; correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  I am not sure if it was Union's.  It was St. Clair Pipelines' and it applied to the National Energy Board, that's right. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Well, when Union brought this application for the approval of the St. Clair line in 1988, it was Union's anticipation, as set out in paragraph 13, that the St. Clair crossing would be separately regulated by the National Energy Board; correct?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And MichCon is a separate American corporate entity?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And also in paragraph 13, then, MichCon was to be responsible for the regulation of the American facilities?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And at paragraph 16, it talks about the St. Clair Line, and I take it that from that time and to the current time, it's been Bickford Storage Line which transports the gas from out of the St. Clair Line from Bickford to Dawn; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  I think what this says is at this time it was capable of being delivered to the Bickford Pool or directly through to Dawn, but this evidence speaks to the fact that there was still restrictions on the available capacity even at that time.


MR. VOGEL:  You are referring to the last sentence in paragraph 16?

"The use of the Bickford Line may be restricted during periods of injection or withdrawal of volumes from Bickford or Terminus storage pools."


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  That was the restriction.  But it was that line, then, the Bickford Storage Line, that provided the ongoing transportation from the Bickford -- from Bickford to Dawn; correct?  In the 1988 proposal and as it was approved?


MR. BAKER:  I think to a limited extent.  I think if you go down to paragraph 17, it talks about -- which is the same situation today.  It talks about the Sarnia market, and on days when the gas can't physically get through the Bickford to Dawn Line, it goes into the Sarnia market.


MR. VOGEL:  Right.  So as I understand this 1988 application -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- what was proposed at the time was the gas would come through the St. Clair Line and it would be transported on to Dawn through the Bickford Storage Line, subject to the limitations that we have just talked about in section 16, which might require alternative facilities; correct?


MR. BAKER:  I think that is correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And in fact, this application in 1988, if we turn to paragraph 20, expressly in paragraph 20 contemplated that additional pipeline capacity from the Bickford and Terminus storage pools to Dawn might be required, and it says there:

"... would be proposed as the storage and 
transportation needs materialize."

Correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's what it says.


MR. VOGEL:  That's what was contemplated at the time that this St. Clair Line was proposed and approved by the Board; correct?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And if we now turn to the current application, then, which is Exhibit K1.6, and looking at paragraph 7 in the current application at page 2, am I correct, then, in understanding that Union has and will continue, under the Dawn Gateway proposal, to use the St. Clair Line to provide its customers with transportation service for natural gas from the St. Clair River border crossing to Union's Dawn Hub?  Correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, we are not with you.  Where --

     MR. BAKER:  What page are you on?


MR. VOGEL:  I am on page 2, paragraph 7 in the application.  Paragraph 7.

Am I correct, then, that Union's proposal is to continue to use the St. Clair Line to provide its customers with transportation service for natural gas from the St. Clair River border crossing to Union's Dawn Hub?


MR. VOGEL:  As part of the Dawn Gateway project, that's right.


MR. BAKER:  It is not Union doing it.  It is Dawn Gateway.


MR. VOGEL:  All right, I take that.  In paragraph 10, the purpose of this -- am I correct that the current proposal is that the purpose of the St. Clair Line has been and will continue to be, under this Dawn Gateway proposal, to increase the ability of Ontario customers to access gas storage and gas supply in the US?  That continues to be one of the primary purposes of this pipeline; correct?


MR. BAKER:  I would say on an expanded basis and on a firm year-round basis, that's right.


MR. VOGEL:  And turning to the prefiled evidence, with respect to the new Bickford to Dawn Line, which is included as part of this Dawn Gateway proposal, and looking at paragraph 31 at page 6, I see that it is the capacity constraint on the current Bickford storage line which is presently limiting the ability of Ontario customers to access US storage and supply.


That's a proposition that is being put before the Board on this application; correct?


MR. BAKER:  I would say it is limiting the amount that can be transported on that path.  Again, there is an amount that we can provide via the Sarnia market exchange, but to the extent that we wanted to get additional volumes beyond what that market could provide, then you have the constraint between Bickford and Dawn.


MR. VOGEL:  I take it that capacity restraint is the restriction that we looked at that was anticipated in Union's 1988 application, which results from these -- during these periods of injection and withdrawal from the Bickford and Terminus storage pools; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And looking at paragraph 32, then, Union is now proposing the Bickford to Dawn Line, under the Dawn Gateway proposal, as a substitute for the Bickford Storage Line to provide that additional capacity that was contemplated, that was talked about being required eventually in the 1988 application; is that right?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BAKER:  Again, I think subject -- it's Dawn Gateway that is looking to do that, not Union, but that's right.


MR. VOGEL:  Fair enough.  That's because, then, I understand that the -- these additional storage and transportation needs anticipated in the 1988 application, and the words of that application have now materialized.  And that is why Union brings this proposal forward as part of the Dawn Gateway proposal; correct?


MR. BAKER:  Well, I don't know.  It is hard to -- going back to the 1998 application --


MR. VOGEL:  '88.


MR. BAKER:  '88, sorry.  I think at that time we thought to the extent we continue to need more capacity for the Bickford and Terminus Pools, that would continue to consume the capacity on the existing Bickford to Dawn Line and make that constraint even tighter.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And the other thing --


MR. BAKER:  And that was what was contemplated back then, is we may need to get to a point for Union's storage operation where we need to look at -- where we needed to look at increasing the Bickford to Dawn Line.  That's not what we're looking at right now.


MR. VOGEL:  Fair enough.  Correct.  So the storage and transportation needs that had been anticipated in that 1988 application as a result of injection and withdrawal from the storage pools, that addition -- those additional needs have now materialized, and that's what has prompted Union to bring forward the new Bickford to Dawn Line as part of the Dawn Gateway proposal; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  No.  It is not additional storage requirements that have driven the need.  It is that we want to get additional gas supplies flowing into Dawn on a firm basis, and that's why we've proposed the Bickford to Dawn Line, so we could take new supplies, whether they're coming in off of a pipeline or storage in Michigan, through on a firm basis to Dawn.  


But it is not because Union's Bickford or Terminus Pools need more capacity.


MR. VOGEL:  But at least a major part of that capacity restraint which results in this new pipeline proposal, from paragraph 31, I take it -- and I thought you would agree with me -- was the capacity constraint which had been identified in the 1988 application; that is, injection and withdrawal from Bickford and Terminus?


MR. BAKER:  That same use of the line is there today, that's right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that, the existing lining is underutilized, as that one table shows, 10 percent.  So we're not under constraint at all.

What Dawn Gateway is doing is doing a lot more than just building a piece of pipe.  It’s having a much more coordinated effort as one company instead of two in terms of developing a path.

Mr. Baker talked earlier about the fuel issue that is being resolved on the US side, the fact that one company is marketing the capacity instead of two companies trying to market the capacity.  So Gateway is much more than just building -- following the path.  The path already has 170 a day of capacity.

     MR. VOGEL:  I think I understand that.  But as I understood the evidence this morning, the underutilization is on the St. Clair Line; correct? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is on the path, the whole path. 

     MR. VOGEL:  There is underutilization on the St. Clair Line.  Is there underutilization of the Bickford to Dawn Line?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union serves the path today from the Middle River to Dawn using displacement in the Sarnia market.  That path is flowing at about 10 percent of its total volume.  So we are not flowing on the Bickford to Dawn Line, but doing the equivalent of it by using the Sarnia market.

So that market is using the gas today at 10 percent load factor, which is very low.  So the path is not constrained today.  What happens at Dawn Gateway is as one company being able to market it and being able to develop the path, it is potentially going from 170 to 360 -- or 385, sorry.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Let me just take you back to paragraph 31, which I covered with Mr. Baker, because that references a capacity constraint which according to what Mr. Baker told me, is in large part the capacity constraint on Bickford to Dawn which was identified in 1988.  Now are you disagreeing with Mr. Baker?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  I'm agreeing.  All I’m saying is Dawn Gateway does much more than that.  It solves the capacity constraint and does a lot more. 

     MR. BAKER:  Just to try to clarify it, what we're saying today is that the capacity ultimately is limited today to the Sarnia market.  That's the 170,000 gJs a day in the winter and roughly 100,000 gJs in the summer.  So to the extent we wanted -- and as Mr. Isherwood said, we're not even coming close to utilizing that capacity today on the St. Clair line.

MR. VOGEL:  On the St. Clair line, I understood that. 

     MR. BAKER:  So what we're trying to do is get additional volumes over and above that which we're not even coming close to today, and that's why we need the new pipeline.

     MR. VOGEL:  I understand.  

     All right.  With respect to this continuing operation of the St. Clair Line as part of the Dawn Gateway project, in the current application before the Board, Exhibit K1.6, in paragraph 1 -- 

     MR. BAKER:  You are on the application?  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  Union describes the St. Clair line as running from Union's St. Clair valve site -- that is the interconnection with the St. Clair line -- to the Bickford compressor site.  And as I understand it, looking at schedule A to the application, the St. Clair line is that portion of pipe running from the St. Clair valve site down to the Bickford Pool compressor station; is that correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Then it includes what is identified there as a St. Clair Line station.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It includes parts of it.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  You may have told us this this morning, Mr. Isherwood, but at page 3 in the prefiled evidence at paragraph 18, am I correct in my understanding Union is proposing to retain ownership of the St. Clair Line station because, as it says there, it contains other equipment that Union will continue to own and use for the operation of other parts of the Union system?  Is that right?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And referring, then, to Union’s pending Heritage Pool application -- and Mr. Chairman, copies of this have been distributed last week to the parties.  We do have copies for filing. 

     MR. KAISER:  Can we give that a number, please?

     MR. VOGEL:  This is the Heritage Pool designation application and excerpts from the prefiled evidence that has to be given an exhibit number, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. KAISER:  What number is that?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit K1.10.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.10: HERITAGE POOL DESIGNATION APPLICATION AND EXCERPTS FROM THE PREFILED EVIDENCE.

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Baker, you have that?  

     MR. BAKER:  I believe we have it, yes.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And as I said, this is an application, a pending application by Union for designation of the Heritage Pool approval of some other facilities and some excerpts from the prefiled evidence.  You are familiar with this application, are you, Mr. Baker?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, between Mr. Isherwood and I, we are.  

     MR. VOGEL:  If I look at appendix A in this application, Notice of Application, I see that it -- this application for approval includes certain new gathering and transmission facilities that will locate –- sorry, connect at a location which is identified as "Union Gas interconnection" in the upper left-hand region of that document; am I correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Referring to the prefiled evidence excerpts at page 1, paragraph 2(e), am I correct in my understanding, then, that that connection is the existing St. Clair Line station?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  So that is the same St. Clair Line station as was identified in Schedule A on this application before the Board?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Can I take it that with the connection of the new Heritage Pool transmission line to the St. Clair Line at the St. Clair Line station, that the St. Clair Line, then, will accommodate transportation of storage gas from Union's Heritage Pool through the St. Clair Line to the Bickford Pool compressor station; is that correct?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, it is connecting the Sarnia Industrial Line.

     MR. VOGEL:  Sorry, I didn't hear your response. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is connecting to the Sarnia Industrial Line, so at St. Clair station is also a point where the Sarnia Industrial Line and the St. Clair Line and future Gateway Line interconnect. 

     MR. VOGEL:  I think you responded -- am I correct that you responded to Mr. Quinn that it certainly gives -- there is certainly the potential to flow gas from the Heritage Pool through the St. Clair Line, to the Bickford Pool compressor station?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The piping certainly allows for that.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  From there, then, that gas would go through currently the Bickford Storage Line to Dawn, or, under Union's Dawn Gateway proposal, it would go through the new Bickford to Dawn Pipeline; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, our proposal in the current state is for it to flow on the Sarnia Industrial Line, because, as we mentioned earlier, the constraint between Bickford and Dawn on the Bickford to Dawn Line.  So during a peak winter day, it is more likely to be going into the Sarnia Industrial Line.


MR. VOGEL:  In the event the option was exercised to ship that gas on the St. Clair Line, then, at Bickford the gas would then flow through either the storage line or the new Bickford to Dawn Line if it were built; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think there is two cases.  One case is the Dawn Gateway goes ahead, in which case there is an option.  There is a capability to flow gas back into the Dawn Gateway Line, which can take it to Dawn.  If Dawn Gateway does not get built, then there is no capacity to go between Bickford and Dawn on a peak winter day.  


So on a peak winter day, that gas would go to the Sarnia market.


MR. VOGEL:  Fair enough.  If it does get built, then, what will happen is -- at least one option is the gas will flow from the Heritage Pool through the St. Clair Line to Bickford, and then from Bickford through the newly constructed Bickford to Dawn Line to reach the hub at Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I mentioned when Mr. Quinn asked a similar question, because Heritage will be allocated cost to use Union Gas integrated system, those costs will be embedded in the cost of operating Heritage.  


So it would be unusual for us to pay more money to ship on Gateway unless there is some operational reason to do that.


MR. VOGEL:  I am just looking at the operational construct and what is possible with this operational construct.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Possible, but not likely or not very often.


MR. BAKER:  The other thing I just want to clarify is you keep referring that it is going to go to the Bickford Pool under Dawn Gateway, and the Dawn Gateway Line, if it goes forward, will not have an interconnection with the Bickford Pool.  It will be a separate line through.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  So that if this technical option that we're addressing now were to transpire -- that is, that the gas from Heritage is transported through the St. Clair Line to Bickford, Mr. Baker, am I understanding, then, that to get that gas to Dawn from Bickford, it would then be transported through the new Bickford to Dawn Line?


MR. BAKER:  Under the situation that I think you are referring to, it would go into the Dawn Gateway Line and flow to Dawn directly on the Dawn Gateway Line.


MR. VOGEL:  Looking at the components of the Dawn Gateway Line, then, it would go into the St. Clair Line to Bickford, and from Bickford to Dawn it would go through the newly constructed pipeline?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  Right.  With respect to the ownership and the operation of the Canadian and American facilities connecting with the St. Clair Line, Mr. Baker, from the 1988 application that we just looked at and as it is operating currently, am I correct, then, that Union owns the St. Clair Line and the Bickford Pool Storage Line; correct?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  St. Clair Pipelines owns the St. Clair River crossing?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, they own half of it to the middle of the river.


MR. VOGEL:  To the middle of the river.


You told me that both Union and St. Clair were subsidiaries of Unicorp Canada Corporation in 1988.  As I understand it, they're both now subsidiaries of Spectra Energy Corp.; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And the -- with respect to the American facilities, the Belle River, Michigan natural gas storage facility and the connecting Belle River Mills Line, they're owned by MichCon?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And MichCon is a subsidiary of DTE?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  If I look at Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 2, and specifically attachment 1, that's a construction agreement dated May 1st, 1988 between MichCon, Union and St. Clair; correct, Mr. Baker?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  You have that?  And at page 3 in that document, paragraph 6, I see that the St. Clair Line, as originally proposed, with these other facilities -- I see in paragraph 6 there that it has -- was and has always been the intention that the pipeline will be capable of being operated as a single system; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  That appears to be what was looked at, at the time.


MR. VOGEL:  Looking at paragraph 5 there, I see MichCon was responsible for the construction of the American facilities and St. Clair was responsible for the St. Clair River crossing on the Canadian side, and then Union was responsible for the construction of the St. Clair valve site to Bickford portion; correct?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  But if we look at paragraph 15 in this attachment -- sorry, page 15 in this attachment, I see there is then a separate agreement between St. Clair and Union, same date, May 1st, 1988.  And under paragraph 1, Union, in fact, assumed responsibility for St. Clair's construction obligations; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.


MR. VOGEL:  So Union in the end was responsible for the construction of all of the Canadian facilities; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  Similarly, if we look at the operation of the line, at page 38 of the attachment there is another form of agreement called an operating agreement, also dated May 1st, 1988, between MichCon, Union and St. Clair.


Do you have that, Mr. Baker?


MR. BAKER:  I have it.


MR. VOGEL:  And under (a) again, I see that the intention was to construct this project described there as a "contiguous pipeline system"?


MR. BAKER:  Which paragraph are you referring to?


MR. VOGEL:  Sub (a) on that page.


MR. BAKER:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Contiguous, but it is also individually owned and operated, right?


MR. VOGEL:  We have the description of it as contiguous.  I suppose that is a matter for argument.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Natural gas pipelines, which forms a contiguous pipeline, so it is individually owned.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  All right, a contiguous pipeline system.  And at page 39 of that attachment, it again refers to the operation of the pipeline as a single pipeline system.  Do you see that, Mr. Baker?


MR. BAKER:  Yes, I do.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to expand on that a bit, that same sentence talks about three individual pipelines.


MR. VOGEL:  To be operated as a single pipeline system; correct, Mr. Isherwood?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Individual pipelines operating the system.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  And looking at page 41, paragraph 6, each of the parties was to be responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of their own section of the pipeline; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  And then, again, we see at page 54 a separate form of agreement, and under that separate agreement for operating and maintenance services, dated December 15th, 1989, under subparagraph (c), it appears St. Clair requested that Union was to provide operating and maintenance services?


MR. BAKER:  Under an agreement, that's right.


MR. VOGEL:  And I see from page 55 of the attachment that, as with the construction agreement, Union agreed to fulfil all of St. Clair's operating and maintenance obligations?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  So in addition to constructing the Canadian facilities, Mr. Baker, Union has also been responsible for the operation and maintenance of all of the Canadian facilities; is that right? 

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And I take it that the facilities were constructed and have been operated to date in accordance with these agreements; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  If we go back to your current application, then, Union's current application, Exhibit K1.10, the prefiled evidence at page 1, as I understand it, then, Mr. Baker, under Union's Dawn Gateway proposal, looking at paragraph -- I'm sorry.  I have given you the wrong exhibit number.

This is this current application, which is Exhibit K1.6, referring to paragraph 7, then.  I am correct, am I, Mr. Baker, all of the Canadian facilities will be owned by Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Under paragraph -- from paragraph 6, that the American facilities will be owned by Dawn Gateway LLC?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And those are two different legal entities?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  

     MR. VOGEL:  MichCon will continue to own the Michigan storage facility?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And Union will continue to own both the St. Clair Line station and the Dawn compressor station?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  With respect to the construction and operation, as proposed, of these facilities, if we turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1, at page 2, I think as you've told us in your evidence this morning, Mr. Baker, Union has responsibility for all of these predevelopment services in connection with the Canadian facilities, which as you've set out there, includes negotiation of agreements, preparation of regulatory submissions, consultation with landowners, consultations with environmental consultants, preparation of engineering designs and associated documentation.  

     That's currently Union's responsibility in connection with Dawn Gateway?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And looking at Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 5, Union will also be responsible for integrity management services on Canadian facilities, I see under 2(b); correct?   

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  That is further described in your response to -- under (c) and over the next page, and includes Union putting structures and controls around the key processes that are used to operate and maintain the pipelines; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  So Union is responsible, at least in part, for determining how the St. Clair Pipeline will be operated and maintained as part of Dawn Gateway?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not operated.  We're just going to be doing field services on the Canadian side.  Operation is controlled through DTE.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Well, Mr. Isherwood, you are putting structures and controls around use and operation of the pipelines.  Is that fair enough?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is more -- I need to read the paragraph before that.  I think it is more around the maintenance of the pipeline.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Fair enough.  

     At (k) and (l) there, Union then is also going to be responsible for land management and landowner relations services in connection with the Canadian facilities; is that right, Mr. Isherwood?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  So in connection with all of those operational responsibilities, the negotiation of the agreements and the regulatory filings and the consultation with landowners and engineering design and integrity management and maintenance and the land management, landowners relations, I take it in the US that that is a responsible of DTE; is that right?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Union is not a subsidiary of, or have, in fact, any corporate relationship with DTE apart from the commercial relationships that you have described as part of this application; is that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Baker, in Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1, at page 2 -- and I think Mr. Thompson may have referred to this in part this morning -- Union says that: 

"Dawn Gateway LP will not complete the purchase of the St. Clair Line if it is ultimately determined that the Dawn Gateway Line is under the jurisdiction of the OEB.  The Dawn Gateway Line will only be constructed if it is determined to be an international pipeline with the Canadian portion being subject to NEB regulation as a Group 2 pipeline."

     Over at page 4 of that same response, Union has said that:

"Cost of service regulation either as an NEB Group 1 pipeline or as an OEB-regulated pipeline would not provide Dawn Gateway LP with sufficient return to justify the capital requirements."

     And at -- 

     MR. BAKER:  It also says: 

"... and to manage the current and future risk related to uncommitted capacity and future contract renewals."

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  I am just getting at Union's motivation in bringing this application.  

     If we look over at Union's response to No. 6, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 6, in sub (1) there, Union seems to have made it clear that Union is not interested in participating as a partner in Dawn Gateway at cost of service rates and similarly in your -- Union's response to Interrogatory No. 7, sub (3), Union has said:

"Union understands the project will only proceed as am NEB Group 2 regulated company with negotiated rates."

     Can I take from all of this, Mr. Baker, that Union's principal motivation in proposing the Dawn Gateway Line and the transfer of the St. Clair Line into the federal jurisdiction as part of that proposal is to obtain the commercial advantage of negotiated rates, which is not available to Union under the OEB regulation?

     MR. BAKER:  No, I would not say that is the principal motivation.

     What I tried to cover this morning was that our initial motivation and desire was to try to get more volumes moving on this path, because the pipeline wasn't being utilized today, and when we went out and talked to customers and potential shippers in terms of what would it take, what they told us was:  We need a point-to-point toll from Belle River Mills to Michigan, and we need a fixed negotiated rate for us to make a long-term contract commitment.

     And without a long-term contract commitment from those customers, we couldn't make a long-term commitment to invest the capital in a new line.  

     So that is how it transpired.  And because it was an international line -- we talked about this this morning -- we felt that that was -- fell under federal NEB jurisdiction.  And because we were being -- as Dawn Gateway was being asked to basically take the risk on a go-forward basis with uncommitted capacity or contract renewals, that is when we said:  This is going to work if we can get Group 2 regulation.

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  I heard that this morning, and however it transpired, what Union is telling the Board on this application is that Union itself, or its joint venture partners, do not want to proceed with Dawn Gateway unless it has available to it negotiated rates as a Group 2 company under the NEB jurisdiction, and neither Union or its joint venture partners are interested in proceeding with this project as an OEB-regulated entity; is that correct?


MR. BAKER:  Yes.  It has nothing to do with necessarily what we want.  It is what we feel we can do because of what -- the requirements that the market is asking for, in terms of committing capacity on this line.  


MR. VOGEL:  Right.  But short of having available to you negotiated rates as a Group 2 NEB company, neither Union nor your joint venture partners will proceed with Dawn Gateway; is that right?


MR. BAKER:  Because we can't -- we won't be able to provide the service that customers are seeking.


MR. VOGEL:  Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We'll take the afternoon break.  Come back in 10 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 3:06 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:28 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Baker, before the Board counsel starts, maybe you could help me with one point.

     As I understood it, the joint venture, the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture is going to be a 50/50 deal between you and DTE, right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  In part, that is based upon the agreement that you will split equally the cost of the new construction on the Bickford to Dawn Line, 17 kilometres?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  And then the rest of it is contributed pipe; you get to contribute 11.7 kilometres in the St. Clair Line, plus the St. Clair River crossing.  That little bit, 0.9 kilometres from the middle of the river to the St. Clair valve, that is owned by Spectra?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  And they, DTE, they contribute the Belle River Mills Line, that is 4.74 kilometres?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  So why is it you get -- it is a 50/50 deal and you are contributing three times as much pipe?  Does your pipe just get evaluated at a third of theirs, or what?

MR. BAKER:  I think all of the contributed assets are going in at net book value, and then all of the assets, plus the new construction will be split 50/50.  

     But I think the real reason that we felt we needed to partner with DTE was to share the risk on the new path going forward, but for some of the reasons that we've talked about today is to try to address some of the issues that the DTE could do on fuel rates even upstream of Belle River Mills, so that we could have a competitive transportation path to take new volumes, as an example, above the Rockies Express Line on a competitive basis, all the way through Michigan and Dawn.

So you know, in addition to the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture itself, we knew that DTE had the ability to do some things even upstream of Belle River Mills to make that path more attractive as well.  

     MR. KAISER:  And you said, or perhaps Mr. Isherwood, I think, that they were going to be the selling agent, if I can use that term?

     MR. BAKER:  That's right.  They will have the -- 

     MR. KAISER:  There’s one point of contact, and they were going to do it. 

     MR. BAKER:  That's right. 

     MR. KAISER:  Do they get compensated for that over and above the shares they get out of this deal?  Or is that part of their contribution, that they will do the marketing, or not?  

     MR. BAKER:  There will be a number of service level agreements back and forth.  I am not sure we have even got quite that far in terms of what that would be, but it would not be -- we wouldn't see that being a major cost or a major effort.

     MR. KAISER:  No.  My question really went to:  You are not giving them extra shares because they have agreed to market the service?

     MR. BAKER:  No, no, no.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. COCHRANE:  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Ljuba Cochrane.  I am Counsel for Board Staff.  I am going to be referring through my cross-examination to a schematic prepared by Board Staff that your counsel has reviewed, and all of the parties have.  It is titled -- and the panel should have it -– it is called "Michigan Ontario interconnections".

     This will be Exhibit K1.11.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  BOARD STAFF SCHEMATIC TITLED "MICHIGAN-ONTARIO INTERCONNECTIONS".
     MS. COCHRANE:  Now, the folks from Union have indicated that they accept this as -- mostly as an accurate depiction of the Canada-US interconnections coming from the US, across the border and into the Dawn Hub.  

     There is one small qualification that I believe your counsel wanted to make, or one of the witnesses want to make, and with respect to this diagram.  

     MS. WONG:  Sorry, I have been trying to get my green light to go on and I can't, so I will speak really loudly.  I believe the witnesses would like to clarify some the colours on the line because some of them are not quite accurate, so perhaps one of the witnesses could do that.  For instance, I think the Vector Line is there in black but it is actually supposed to be green.

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Vector Line that goes from St. Clair to 4 would be green.  Between 4 and 1 would be orange.  I am not sure if it is the depiction in the boxes to represent Dawn yard.  That was my assumption.  Is that correct?  That inside dot?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Yes. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Obviously the Bluewater Line and the MichCon services to Dawn, actually do that by going through Sarnia, but it is kind of a representation of what is happening.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  Thanks. 

     MS. WONG:  One more thing, counsel.  I wasn't sure that the witnesses could confirm that the rate information is correct.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  We have that qualification on the record.  I will be asking some questions, but you know obviously to the extent these witnesses know or don't know, that will be -- the answer will be the answer.  

     We have heard this morning that a crucial aspect of the proposed new line is that Union -- or rather Dawn Gateway LP will be able to switch to NEB jurisdiction as a Group 2 pipeline.

     My understanding is that as a Group 2 pipeline, it is a considerably lighter form of regulation than it would be if it were a Group 1 pipeline or if it remained under OEB jurisdiction. 

Is that your understanding, as well?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  It is effectively not cost-of-service regulation.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Correct.  It is complaints-only basis, and there is some requirement to file financial information, but if nobody complains, there really isn't any very strict oversight.

Is that a fair assessment?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  That's correct.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  Could you confirm for me that neither the NEB requires, nor -- the NEB does not require an assessment of market power for Group 2 pipelines?

     MR. BAKER:  I don't believe I have ever seen anything where they have done that, no.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  And in respect of this application or the NEB application, Union or Dawn Gateway hasn't done a market power assessment, have they?  

     MR. BAKER:  No.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Now, my understanding is that the other lines going in and out of -- other than the Union lines, which on Exhibit K1.11, there's the three Union lines, which is the orange hyphenated lines.  The others are regulated either by FERC or the NEB as Group 1 lines.

Is that your understanding?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's no FERC-regulated pipelines at Dawn.  They would be all NEB-regulated pipelines.  That would be Vector and TCPL. 

     MR. BAKER:  Vector is Group 2.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  So is the Niagara GT Line as well, I believe.

MS. COCHRANE:  And the Vector one, you have indicated, is Group 2 from the St. Clair station into Dawn?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  How many shippers are currently contracted that use the St. Clair Line, I mean in terms of its current C1 designation?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The St. Clair pipeline, as I mentioned earlier, has been fairly dramatically underutilized, but I did go back and look at the firm use of the pipeline over the last three years, and what I found was DTE affiliates -- and there's been two or three of them actually -- but all affiliated with DTE have used 81 percent of the firm volumes.

Beyond that, there were four other shippers that were separate and independent of DTE.  

So it has primarily been DTE. 

     MS. COCHRANE:  What have been the total volumes in the past three years that you have indicated?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is actually on that FRPO IR No. 6.  In the last three years, starting in 2006, at about 1.9 pJs; 2007, 3.6 pJs; and 2008 was 10.5 pJs.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  Are those long-term firm transportation contracts or short-term contracts, interruptible or seasonal contracts?  What would be the -- 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The predominant use of the pipeline actually is seasonal, and there are some contracts that may be monthly.  We have occasionally have had annual contracts in the recent past.  Currently, for example, the only contract we have today is one contract that expires end of the summer and there are no contracts yet for next winter, for example.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Of the five shippers that have signed precedent agreements with regards to the open season, are you able to tell us how many of them are existing C1 customers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think any.  I am going by memory here a little bit, but I don't think any.


MS. COCHRANE:  Could I have an undertaking that you will check that and confirm if that is the case, or not?  That will be undertaking -- if that is acceptable, undertaking J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF SHIPPERS WHO ARE C1 CUSTOMERS THAT HAVE SIGNED PRECEDENT AGREEMENTS.

MS. WONG:  Yes, that's fine.


MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was relative to current contracts?


MS. COCHRANE:  Current C1 contracts, yes, how many of the new -- or the five shippers that responded to open season that you have precedent agreements with, how many are the same?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just so I give you the right answer, there is only one contract that we have in this summer currently flowing, so it is checking that one contract relative to the four other parties that bid?


MS. WONG:  I think the confusion may be we think the question only relates to who are C1 shippers on the St. Clair Line.  You are not interested on whether they're C1 shippers on some other part of the Union system?


MS. COCHRANE:  No, no, on the St. Clair Line.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But it is current shippers we have today?


MS. COCHRANE:  That's right.


And of the four other shippers, because you have indicated Union is one of them -- of the four others, are any of them DTE affiliates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, they're not.


MR. BAKER:  No.


MS. COCHRANE:  Does Union currently use the St. Clair Line for transportation services, transport-regulated gas supply or system gas, to meet any of its in-franchise customer needs?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not today.


MS. COCHRANE:  How about over the past 10 years?  Has there been some volume that's gone down or disappeared?  Can you give us some explanation of that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly not since the year 2000.  I am not sure about before that.


MS. COCHRANE:  So you have indicated since 2000, you haven't used it to serve in-franchise customers.  Was there any change around that time that caused that to be the case?


MR. BAKER:  I don't think it's ever been used, to any significant extent, to move system gas volumes.  There may be a few times where we have moved small volumes, but it has not been -- the volumes have not been significant.


MS. COCHRANE:  Some questions relating back to the 1988 decision, Board-approved construction of the St. Clair Line.


There were submissions made by Union and the Board in its decision that identified four sorts of purposes for the proposed facilities.  And I will just summarize them for you, if -- I have a couple of copies of the case if you need to reference them, but I don't think they're that contentious.


The first was that the St. Clair-Bickford line would meet the anticipated storage requirements of the company and its customers.  Would you agree that that is a distribution-related purpose?


MR. BAKER:  I think that is right.  I think back at the time, that was before we had developed a lot of the storage capacity that we have today at Dawn.  So I think at that time it was, to the extent that we need additional storage for our in-franchise customers, could we access it through Michigan via this line?


MS. COCHRANE:  What about ex-franchise customers?  You don't have any customers connected to this line, but does it serve ex-franchise customers, other distribution customers elsewhere?


MR. BAKER:  It could have.  I am trying to go back in time, at the time of this application, and I believe it was, to the extent that Union needed additional storage for its in-franchise, Michigan maybe was a potential at that time.


MS. COCHRANE:  Secondly, the Board found in the 1988 decision a justification or purpose for this line was that Union could then access competitively-priced US gas supplies.


That also -- the security of supply issue is also a benefit for distribution customers; would you agree?


MR. BAKER:  That's right.  And that security of supply will still exist with the Dawn Gateway line.


MS. COCHRANE:  So in terms of that distribution type of function, that will -- that is still -- that still exists and you can see that still needs to exist in the future?


MR. BAKER:  It would.  I would just say there's been a lot of changes since 1988, the biggest being the construction of the Vector Pipeline, which is a 1.3 Bcf a day pipeline into Dawn.


So the construction of that pipeline has significantly enhanced security of supply into Dawn and into Ontario.


MS. COCHRANE:  The third purpose the Board identified was to -- because other eastern Canadian LDCs expressed an interest in contracting for transportation services, to also acquire competitively-priced supplies of firm and spot gas in the US.  That, again, is a security of supply type of issue for other LDCs; would you agree?


MR. BAKER:  It could be security of supply.  Maybe back then it was, but I think it was also supply diversity, so it was another supply option that they had access to, in addition to purely western Canadian gas.


MS. COCHRANE:  In fact, it is for the benefit of other LDCs, as well.  There is a distribution function there?


MR. BAKER:  Correct.


MS. COCHRANE:  Fourthly, the purpose the Board identified was, again -- well, Union claimed that the proposed pipeline would enhance Ontario's security of gas supply due to increased access to Michigan storage.  So, again, that's security supply for distribution customers.


Now, how will these -- since the Board approved the construction of the line in '88, how have these purposes changed from being integral to Union's distribution system to where we find ourselves today?  Which of those purposes does this line no longer serve or do you not need it for?


MR. BAKER:  I think if you start with storage, we're in a situation today where Union has developed a lot of storage in the province.  There is easily enough storage that we have to serve our in-franchise distribution customers, and we sell the rest of it ex-franchise.  


So that is a different situation relative to what would have existed in 1998.  I mentioned the -- or '88, sorry.


I mentioned the construction of the Vector Pipeline.  So there's been a lot of developments in terms of increased pipeline infrastructure and supplies coming into Ontario that didn't exist in 1988.


I would say the whole competitive nature of the market back in 1988, that was just shortly after deregulation, and parties were looking at, you know, new sources of gas, competitive sources of gas, and again, a lot has transpired since 1988 in terms of the overall makeup of the market.


The other thing there is that we have seen a lot of retail direct purchase in Ontario in competition.  So it is not just the LDC.  I think you referred to an LDC function or distribution function.  Having adequate supply and supply options are also there for direct purchase marketers who serve end-use customers on a direct purchase contract.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  One thing I would add to that is the development and emergence of Dawn as a market hub.  So back in 1988-'89, as Mr. Baker mentioned, the beginning of direct purchase, LDCs back in that day would actually try to get back to the producing basin to get their supply.


Today, the common trend is to go back to Dawn to get the supply.  So the whole supply point has shifted from points in the US in towards Dawn.


MS. COCHRANE:  Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4, preamble number 2 on page 1 -- actually, over on page 2, very top paragraph, the reference is to an excerpt from the '88 decision, but then the question summarizes it:

"The Board findings characterize the St. Clair Line as part of a local distribution system serving several functions simultaneously, arterial transmission and distribution."


 How do you characterize the St. Clair Line today, in terms of those functions?  Does it still serve all of those functions, or some less important than others, or are any of them relevant anymore?

MR. BAKER:  I guess in terms of distribution, we don't serve any distribution load directly off the St. Clair Line.  So again, I think back in 1988 we thought that that was a potential, but 20 years later that has not transpired.  We don't serve any distribution load directly off the St. Clair Line.

It is still used for -- it is still used for transmission purposes, albeit on a low level today.

MS. COCHRANE:  In terms of being available for diversity of supply, which is one of its purposes, that is something that serves, benefits distribution customers.  Not necessarily in your -- directly connected to you, but throughout the area.  Would you agree with that, that there is still a distribution function to the line?

MR. BAKER:  I wouldn't say that diversity of supply is just a distribution function.  Diversity of supply is required for all of the functioning of the gas market, not just distribution.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I mentioned earlier about the different people using the line.  I mentioned DTE was a big user of pipeline.  When you get past DTE, the next four are typically marketers and they're trying to bring the supply to Dawn, to transact with Dawn with other market participants.

MS. COCHRANE:  In terms of the other pipelines, if you look at Exhibit K1.11, that come across the border into Dawn, other than the three Union lines that have the C1 lines, do any of the other transporters such as Vector, TCPL serve any distribution or transmission-type functions?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent they connect upstream to supply and storage, they would meet the same criteria outlined for St. Clair.  They're identical.

MR. BAKER:  Ultimately somebody at the end of the day is going to burn the gas, but I think you have a variety of contracting parties on Vector.  You could have an LDC like Union and Enbridge.  You can have marketers that are bringing supply across that pipeline, but ultimately to serve some end use, whether it is directly through the LDC or the utility, or through a marketer.

MS. COCHRANE:  So we've already heard through the cross-examination this morning the proposed new line, the 34-kilometre Dawn Gateway Line would include, among the following parts, the St. Clair River crossing, which is the 0.8-kilometres, and the St. Clair pipeline, the 11.7.

Now in terms of those two components, nothing about them is going to change physically if Union's proposed transaction goes ahead; is that correct?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  There will need to be some slight modifications to metering facilities, but to the pipeline itself, no.

MS. COCHRANE:  Now, you have indicated what is different about the proposed transaction is that the now newly-constituted Dawn Gateway line would cross the international border, but in terms of the NEB, the federal jurisdiction, you would agree with me that it is over the import and export of gas and the flow of gas in and out of the province?

Do you agree with me that's the NEB's jurisdiction?  I am not looking for a definitive legal interpretation, but in terms of your business.  Is that your understanding?

MR. BAKER:  Can you just repeat the question, please?

MS. COCHRANE:  Well, maybe I can take you back.

In the 1988 decision that approved Union's application for leave to construct, counsel for Union took a position that it's OEB jurisdiction that applies to the St. Clair Line, and acknowledged that NEB jurisdiction remains with the St. Clair River crossing, and had said that NEB, under its statute, exerts authority with respect to the import and export of gas to and from Canada, and it regulates the flow of gas in and out of the provinces.

Union's point was that parliamentary jurisdiction extends only to regulating the movement of gas in and out of Canada and in and out of the provinces.

So my question is that that was the basis of the decision, those were the arguments that were made in the 1988 decision.  Nothing has changed, as far as I know, in terms of the NEB's regulation over import and export of gas.  The gas is still coming across the border at the St. Clair, the interconnection under the river, which is not changing physically.  And that remains under NEB jurisdiction.

So I guess my suggestion to you is that nothing is changing in terms of where the gas is crossing the border or where it is moving to and from with the existing system and compared to the proposed Dawn Gateway Line.

MS. WONG:  Just before the witnesses answer, Ms. Cochrane, from the legal perspective, the company's position is that it is a federal undertaking as discussed in the Westcoast case, which we will discuss in argument with you.  I think the witnesses can answer as to what the factual differences are between what the current position is now and what the Dawn Gateway organization will be, because I think there are some factual differences.

But on the legal front, the company's position is that is a federal undertaking with a pipeline that crosses an international border, and serves customers on both sides of the border.  It is NEB jurisdiction, and the Westcoast case in the Supreme Court of Canada would be the primary justification for that position.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  I guess my question was looking just for confirmation as to a fact, a fact, that is that the gas is changing, crossing the border at the interconnection under the river.  It is not changing, you know, at the St. Clair valve station or somewhere else along the line.  It is still at the same location as it has been the last, you know, 20 years.

MR. BAKER:  The gas is still obviously physically flowing across that interconnect.  

But I think that the significant change that is being proposed with Dawn Gateway is that the individual pipelines would no longer be operated separately and individually.

So that what we would offer is a point-to-point service on an integrated transportation path from Belle River Mills to Dawn.  So that's really the main difference. and that would be marketed in the marketplace as an integrated and a single path, as opposed to a separate service on MichCon and a separate service on the St. Clair River crossing, then a separate service on Union.

So that is the significant change relative to how it had operated historically.

MR. KAISER:  But Mr. Baker, that point-to-point service is all in Canada; right?  

     MR. BAKER:  The point-to-point service would be Belle River Mills, Michigan to Dawn.

MR. KAISER:  I thought point number one was the middle of the river, and point number 2 was Dawn.  Isn't that all in Canada?

MR. BAKER:  I think from an NEB perspective, it is from the river to Dawn, that's correct.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Baker, you have indicated that, you know, there is going to be now this one company and this one entity that is running everything from Belle River Mills to Dawn.  And I would like to examine that a bit further.

The entity that will be owning this new, to-be-consolidated line is Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership, which is a limited partnership of, well, basically DTE and Spectra.

If I understood the evidence correctly, DTE is going to be managing, controlling and dealing with everything on the US side and Spectra and/or Union will be doing it on the Canada side.  

Is that generally a fair conclusion?

MR. BAKER:  No, no.  I think from a marketing perspective and a contracting perspective, it will be marketed as an integrated path by DTE.  So DTE will have primary accountability for marketing the transportation on that path.

In terms of field services, in terms of the associated assets, DTE would do field services and maintaining the assets on the US side.  And Spectra, through Union, would maintain the assets on the Canadian side.

MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Vogel has gone into that in depth with you and referred to all of the ways in which Union will be directly involved in the predevelopment work, the field services on the Canadian side.

In fact, it doesn't seem like anybody else except Union is going to be involved in the predevelopment of this, the development of the pipeline on the Canadian side; correct?

MR. BAKER:  On the Canadian side, that's right.

MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  And if you look at your NEB application on page 14, paragraph 3.2 –0

MR. BAKER:  Sorry, can you give me the reference again?

MS. COCHRANE:  Page 14 of the NEB application, paragraph 3.2.  It is titled "Roles of the Parties".


Basically, it says, you know, DTE through its affiliates will be the lead developer of the US facilities, and so on, and then:

"Spectra through its affiliates will be the lead developer of the Canadian facilities and will provide ongoing financial services for Dawn Gateway LP and Dawn Gateway LLC and field services for Dawn Gateway LP."


So, again, from my reading of this excerpt from your NEB application, it is Spectra that is going to be doing everything on the Canadian side of the pipeline.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The one distinction I would make is DTE will be the controlling pipeline on both sides.


MS. COCHRANE:  Well, can you explain what you mean by "controlling", maybe from a technical standpoint?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Controlling would be as customers want to ship volumes on the pipeline, they need to be scheduled and moved.  So in terms of opening valves, closing valves, controlling pressure, nominations to move gas on the pipeline, anything dealing with the day-to-day operation of the pipeline would be done through DTE.


MS. COCHRANE:  So the day-to-day operations, which could be done by DTE, but could -- in some businesses could be sub-contracted to somebody?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Today, it is done by two different companies.  That's one advantage of having Dawn Gateway, is you have one party controlling the pipeline.


MS. COCHRANE:  But in terms of making the business decisions, you know, the financial services aspect of the business on the Canadian side, that is Spectra or...

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MS. COCHRANE:  It would be Spectra making those decisions?


MS. WONG:  I don't think she heard you, Mr. Isherwood.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry.  No, The financial decisions will still be made at the Dawn Gateway level.

All Spectra is doing, from a financial point of view, is just doing the accounting.  It is just doing the accounts receivable, that type of thing.


In terms of making decisions for expansions or large maintenance budgets, or even in approving budgets, it would be done by Dawn Gateway.


MS. COCHRANE:  Dawn Gateway, the limited partnership of Spectra and DTE; right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  So who, in the limited partnership, is really just, you know, the sum of its parts, its limited partner?  So that is Spectra on the Canadian side and DTE on the US side?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Spectra and DTE on both sides.  It is a 50/50 joint venture on both sides.  So any decision made on the US side or Canadian side is a joint venture decision, not any one party's decision, and that is really the power of the Dawn Gateway.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Isherwood, would the joint venture company have any employees?  It sounds like everything is going to get contracted out –-


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  -- to either Spectra-Union or DTE –-

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. COCHRANE:  While we have gone through the -- as you have gone through with some of the other counsel in cross-examinations, I mean the vast majority of the pipeline network is going to be that belonging to Union or Spectra and its affiliates.


Is it conceivable that somebody from DTE, officers or directors from the DTE Corporation, which is one of the limited partners, could influence decisions or make controlling decisions over pipeline that is owned in Canada, or would it realistically be Spectra that would have control over those types of decisions?


MR. BAKER:  I think, as Mr. Isherwood said, it is a 50/50 joint venture partnership on the Canadian side and the US, so no one party controls.  Each party has an equal share in the decisions that would be made for the partnership.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The way I look at it, maybe to help clarify a bit, is Dawn Gateway Joint Venture will actually be paying Spectra for its assets and will be paying DTE for their assets.  They will be jointly paying for the new construction.


So the joint venture -- and that will all get funded 50/50 by Spectra and by DTE.  So Dawn Gateway, LLC on the US side and LP on the Canadian side, will own the assets and be operating the assets.  And they will hire DTE to basically operate the assets.


MS. COCHRANE:  The DTE limited partner of the Dawn Gateway limited partnership is a Canadian company -- or it is DTE Vector Canada Inc.?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MS. COCHRANE:  That's an Ontario or a Canadian incorporated...

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is -- it is in the evidence.  I don't know.


MS. COCHRANE:  Are any of the officers and directors of that company in any way related to Union or Spectra or Westcoast?


MR. BAKER:  No.


MS. COCHRANE:  So I just find it somewhat remarkable you have the vast majority of a pipeline that is owned by Union, and yet this Michigan company has 49 -- almost a 50 percent -- let's say 50/50 control over the -- what happens to the entire pipeline, but that is, you know, 75 percent of being --


MR. BAKER:  They don't have control over it, and DTE will invest a 50 percent share in the cost to construct the new line, as well.


So they will have a financial stake in the limited partnership on the Canadian side.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay, I will leave that.


MR. KAISER:  Is there a board of directors with both parties having equal representation in both cases?  I understand one is an LP and one is an LLC, but that is just nomenclature, I take it, because of the different tax schemes in the different countries?  Essentially they are mirror images of each other?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Both DTE and Spectra have an equal number of representatives on the management of the partnership, or the corporation in the case of the corporation?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  I have a couple of questions about capacity constraints, and I will be very brief, because we have had some cross-examination on that already.


Response to CME's Interrogatory No. 2 indicated that there are some capacity constraints and that Union supports pipeline expansions that will reduce these capacity constraints and further enhance the competitive market.


Now, in the Staff discussion paper on the Storage and Transportation Access Rule, STAR, Union said that currently there is capacity in excess of market demands for firm C1 transportation service.


So it seems to us that there is a contradiction, in that in this application you're saying there are constraints; whereas in STAR, you said that there seems to be an excess, or more than enough.  


I wonder if you could just explain or reconcile the apparent contradiction.


MR. BAKER:  I will try.  I think what I was trying to clarify this morning is today there is capacity to provide C1 St. Clair to Dawn service by looking at the availability of the Sarnia market, and that changes between the summer and winter.


So that creates the capacity that is there today to sell firm C1 to Dawn transportation today.


To the extent that we want to expand that transportation route above those volumes that we can serve today through the Sarnia market, that's where the constraint is.


So we would need to build additional pipeline capacity to move more volume than the Sarnia market can take today.  So I think in STAR, when it said we've got the capacity, that goes back to our capacity utilization today where we've got the ability, as an example, to sell 170,000 gJs of transportation in the winter using the Sarnia market, but there is nowhere near enough market that is contracting for and taking that service today.


MS. COCHRANE:  Since 1988 when the line -- 1989 when it went into service, what has changed that would lead you to capacity constraints today that you require this newly reconstituted line?


I will make it simple.  My question is really about the development of competitive storage pools, and one of the other counsel touched on that.


To what extent has the development, Union's development of competitive storage pools caused or contributed to the capacity constraint?


MR. BAKER:  It hasn't contributed to that at all.  I think what we wanted to do was to find a way to better utilize the existing assets that are there today, and actually expand the capacity of that route or that path from Belle River Mills to Dawn.


So that is why we have looked at -- to the extent that we want to offer 360 million cubic feet a day capacity, the Sarnia market can't take that today, and therefore we need to build the additional pipeline between Bickford and Dawn to be able to do that.  

     So we want to expand the path, and we want to make it bigger so that we can get additional volumes into Ontario.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that, what happened last September was DTE, on behalf of Dawn Gateway, went to market in an open season and offered the Dawn Gateway path under new framework.  It was one company, integrated marketing with DTE and their other upstream marketing.  It was unlocking a path.  It was all of those things combined that created a new framework, a new 

path to Dawn.  And those bids came back higher than the current capacity in the Sarnia market.  But if we didn't go ahead with Dawn Gateway, my thought would be we would continue to use an underutilized asset.

We have had a 10 percent average use of that asset in the last six years. I wouldn't see that changing a lot in the next six years.  But what is different, I think is your question, is Dawn Gateway being one company, one focus, with DTE on the upstream and Union Gas on the downstream.  That is what has changed.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Is it part of Union's submissions that the sale has to take place at net book value or else it becomes unfeasible?  

     MR. BAKER:  I think when we looked at it, we did the fair market value valuation study that we talked about this morning, and we looked at it and said:  What's a fair and reasonable way to go at this?  

     And from our perspective and in talking to DTE, we made the decision that irrespective of the fair market value, we would propose to transfer the assets at net book value.  That would ensure there was no detriment to the ratepayer in terms of the asset transfer.  And as we have talked about in the evidence and in the interrogatories, that sale at net book value would also provide an ongoing rate reduction to the ratepayers as well.  So that was the thinking.

     MS. COCHRANE:  Let me put it this way:  Is there a dollar amount at which the transaction becomes undoable?  Like for example, if this Board decided that, you know, really you should have used replacement cost as a value, and say the figure is $7 million, I mean, a show-stopper?  Is there some amount at which it becomes -- you know, Union will walk away?

     MR. BAKER:  I am not able to answer that question today, because there are a lot of unknowns.  

     As we sit here today, that pipeline is not fully subscribed, so it would have to be looked at, and it is a hypothetical and I really can't answer it.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Now, if it was sold at a price that exceeded net book value, the accounting treatment, as I understand it, would be classified as a group asset and the group method applies to both financial statements and regulatory accounting.

     On the sale of the St. Clair Line, and assuming if the price exceeded net book value, the gain would be recorded by increasing the accumulated depreciation and would not be recognized in the income statement.  The above treatment would result in a reduction of the rate base and consequently to the utility rates. 

     Now, you can tell this is written by one of our accounting staff, not myself, but is that your understanding that, you know, the amount over net book value would go to reduce rate base?  

     MR. BAKER:  You're really testing my knowledge of the last time I have looked at this.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Maybe do it by way of an undertaking?  

     MR. KAISER:  What is the question?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  If the sale price exceeded net book value, the accounting treatment would be to -- that the gain would be recorded by increasing the accumulated depreciation, and then it would result in a reduction of rate base and ultimately utility rates.  

     MS. WONG:  What I would add is that one of the reasons I think we should take it by way of an undertaking is that, that's one of the issues before the Board, is how proceeds should be allocated, and I would certainly be arguing that for some of the reasons discussed, for instance, in the cushion gas decision and in the ATCO decision, that that would not necessarily be the case.   But I was hoping not to have to get into that in any great detail, because if it was net book value, there would be no gain to have to allocate.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  That will be Undertaking J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF ACCOUNTING TREATMENT RE SALE OF PIPELINE.
     MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  

     MR. BAKER:  I think one other comment I would make, in the context of the discussion as well is that -- and it is in the evidence -- but there were a number of competing options that were out there in the marketplace, as well, going on at the same time.  

     So that is another factor, again, that Dawn Gateway would have to look at, in terms of, you know, how would it be -- how would it be vis-a-vis other options that were out there in the marketplace, as well.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  I just have a few questions about the impact of the proposal on the existing C1 rate customers.  

     Currently the St. Clair Line is under C1 rate schedule where C1 long-term firm transportation service is cost-based and short-term firm transportation is a market-based price.  Do I have that right?  

     MR. BAKER:  Correct.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Now, with the proposed change in ownership, the proposed price or rate for both short- and long-term firm transportation will be negotiated, which means that the long-term firm transportation service will move from being cost-based to market-based price; right?  

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct, the negotiated rate.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  At this time, how many customers have existing C1 contracts with Union for firm transportation services on the St. Clair Line? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  One. 

     MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  One. 

     MS. COCHRANE:  One.  What is the volume of that contract?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe it is 10,000 gJs a day.  

     MR. BAKER:  Back to the comment this morning, predominantly almost all of the contracts on C1 St. Clair to Dawn are -- fall under the short-term category.  There is very little long-term contracting on that path.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That one contract expires October 31.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  October 31 of this year?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MS. COCHRANE:  And what's going to happen to it after that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It expires.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Now, you have indicated that shipper -- the shippers that you were talking to in response to the open bid, they wanted long-term transportation contracts.  Have they stated -- and that is available on a cost-of-service basis on the existing system.

     Have they, these shippers stated whether they would sign long-term contracts if they were at a cost-based rate?  Has that issue been discussed? 

     MR. BAKER:  What they were looking for was a fixed rate, and what they were saying was:  In order for them to contract long term, which we would need to support the construction and new facilities, they required a fixed rate that would not be subject to change over the term of the contract.

     MS. COCHRANE:  In response to CME Interrogatory No.3, on page 2, it is stated that Union expects customers currently served by the St. Clair Line will be able to get the equivalent and enhanced service on the Dawn Gateway pipeline.

     MR. BAKER:  Can you refer to what paragraph you're...  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry.  It is CME Interrogatory No. 3, page 2, paragraph E.  

     MR. BAKER:  Okay, I have it, thanks.

MS. COCHRANE:  My first question is about what are the enhanced services that customers can expect?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I think to just expand on that answer, I think other pipelines on your map would also offer similar services. 

     So to the extent they wanted to go from Michigan to Dawn, obviously Great Lakes/TransCanada can do the same thing.  Vector can do the same thing.  The ANR link to Niagara GT can do the same thing.  Bluewater can do the same, as well as Gateway.  So there is four or five or six different options there.


In terms of Gateway's options, I think at this point in time the tolls and tariffs are still being developed, but I think it would be a fairly simple service.  It would be a firm service and interruptible service at this point in time.


There is lots of options.


MR. KAISER:  Could you, overnight -- I am looking at this.  Maybe you don't have to refer to this map, but it would be useful, and this is K1.11.  


Can you identify the lines that would be competitive to your proposed line, just as you outlined, but do it in some form of a map or -- I don't know whether we have all of the competitive lines here.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe you do.  Oh, you mean the new proposal or the existing lines?


MR. KAISER:  No, the lines that exist today that would be competitive to your new service.


MS. WONG:  To the Gateway service?


MR. KAISER:  Right.  I thought that is what you were just speaking of.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be the top five lines, ANR link, Bluewater, MichCon, Great Lakes and Vector.


MS. WONG:  Did you want to see that in a map, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  No, that's all right.  I just wanted to relate it to this map, but I think you have done it.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say the Panhandle directly, but the top five --


MR. KAISER:  I going to ask for the Panhandle, but I suppose you're saying it is not coming across the river.  It is not directly comparable?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It actually comes in south of Detroit, so there is ways to get from MichCon into the Panhandle and Ojibway, but it's not direct.  The top five are more direct.


MR. KAISER:  And just while we're on that, if I was a shipper and I was looking at your proposed service, and I was looking at these other five, what is the price transparency that is available to a shipper?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What marketers look at is the price of gas in Michigan, and if you look on some of the trading screens or on some of the marketer bulletins that come out, they talk about a MichCon pricing point and they look at a Dawn pricing point.  Those two pricing points in the wintertime have traditionally been 10 to 15 cents apart; forecasts that to be a little bit higher in the future, but typically 10 to 15 cents.


So that would be the price transparency in the market.


So a marketer would say:  I can take gas from Michigan and afford to pay 15 cents to get to Dawn.  And they could check with any one of those five pipelines to find the cheapest option of getting to Dawn.


MR. KAISER:  Now, you're talking, of course, in your new service, about fixed long-term; right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  That's your rationale.  Would I be able to get fixed long-term on these other five?  I mean, are we comparing apples and apples?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure, actually, on some of them.  I think Bluewater has that capability.


MR. BAKER:  Vector would, too?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Vector would have that capability.  TCPL and Great Lakes did an open season about the same time that Gateway did open season.  I am not sure if they're offering a long-term fixed price or not, but they were in the market exactly the same time or pretty close to the same time that Gateway was doing open season.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  That's helpful, thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  While we are looking at the Exhibit 1.11, we have indicated here -- and I think you have agreed -- that Union has three lines that come across the border into Dawn Hub.


Has there been any consideration with the other two lines, the Bluewater and the Panhandle, both of which are also regulated by the OEB, that you would seek NEB jurisdiction for those?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of the Bluewater line, the actual river crossing part of Bluewater is NEB-regulated, and then again on the Canadian side it is OEB-regulated.


It doesn't physically go into Dawn.  It physically goes into the Sarnia Industrial Line.  So there are no plans today to take that into any further NEB regulation.


In terms of Ojibway, again the river crossing that crosses Detroit River down by Windsor, that does -- again, is NEB-regulated for the river crossing, and then ties into Union's distribution system almost immediately on the Canadian side.


MS. COCHRANE:  So it is only the line that is the subject of today's proceeding that has any features that make it advantageous to pursue the type of proposed transaction that you are looking for, and the others don't have -- wouldn't?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. COCHRANE:  You never say never, but from where you sit today, there doesn't appear to be any commercial reason to do that?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  I think on the Panhandle Line, there is distribution load served off that line today.


MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  Union, as I understand it, owns all of the storage pools at Dawn Hub with the exception of Tecumseh?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is also MHP and another Spectra affiliate owns one pool, and a joint venture between MHP and AltaGas own Airport Pool, which is just coming into service in the next few days, actually.  


MS. COCHRANE:  Now, in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 7, on page 2, paragraph 4, you stated that:

"Dawn Gateway LP will be selling transportation services on Dawn Gateway.  It is not expected that Union would bundle services on Dawn Gateway with storage services from Heritage."


Now, your response indicates that Union does not intend to do it with respect to the Heritage Pool.


Can you give us any indication as to whether the new owners of the proposed Dawn Gateway Line may be looking to bundle the line with any of the storage services?


MR. BAKER:  Sorry, are you specifically referring to storage services in Ontario in Union's storage service?


MS. COCHRANE:  That's right.


MR. BAKER:  No.


MS. COCHRANE:  Or Michigan, sorry.


MR. BAKER:  The intention of the line is to move volumes from Michigan to Ontario.  They may come out of Michigan storage.  They may come directly off pipelines upstream of Belle River Mills.  They could come either way.


MS. COCHRANE:  The question, though, is about bundling the service.  Are there any plans to do that?


MR. BAKER:  Not that I am aware of.


MS. COCHRANE:  Because as you are aware, one of the questions put to you earlier today was about the OEB's proposed storage access -- Storage and Transportation Access Rule.  And the Board, this Board, is of the view that competitive storage services shouldn't be tied to regulated transportation services, and, if they are, then the transportation service -- equivalent transportation service must be offered on a stand-alone basis.


And if the Dawn Gateway line becomes a subject of NEB jurisdiction and STAR wouldn't apply to it if it was a Group 2 pipeline, so technically there would be nothing to prevent the new owner from bundling the storage and transportation and not providing transportation on a stand-alone basis.


Would you agree that is possible?


MR. BAKER:  I guess where I am struggling a bit is we are trying to get gas -- if you look at Michigan storage, Michigan storage is stand-alone, and they are trying to move that storage east.


If you look at Dawn's storage, I think what the Board was referring to in STAR -- or the report was referring to is not bundling it with downstream transportation, so not saying we can have a storage contract, but you need to take this other transportation contract on our system to move it away.  


That is not what is being contemplated here at all.


MR. KAISER:  I guess the upshot is I know when people were talking about STAR earlier, you were concerned about having to disclose prices in the competitive market.


But if, as a condition and approval of this application, there was a prohibition on bundling storage with transportation, would that give you heartburn?


[Witness panel confers.]

MR. BAKER:  We're just talking.  I think when I think about it in the market, we won't really know what market participants are doing. 

     So someone could be taking a contract on Dawn Gateway and simply moving pipeline gas from Rockies Express up into 

Dawn.  A party may have a storage contract in Michigan that they're looking to move on a traps path on Dawn Gateway into Dawn.  

     I don't consider that bundling.  I consider it just trying to move their storage downstream further east to a market.  But it would be -- I don't see a situation where it would be bundled per se.   

     MR. KAISER:  I am not talking about whether the customer elects to do something.  I am talking about whether you -- and I suppose maybe the answer is under a 50/50 joint venture, it wouldn't make any sense and may not arise because you are not going to control things -- but in the NGEIR sort of thinking, if you have a service that people want, either storage or transportation, that is long-term fixed and that becomes useful -- and apparently there are five customers that think that is the case -- would the situation arrive conceivably where you say:  Okay, you can have it provided you use Union storage or vice versa, you could have Union storage provided you use our transportation.

     But you don't control this transportation link anymore, in the new world.  

     MR. BAKER:  No, that's right.  I understand better where you are going with that description.  And that wouldn't happen, because both from our perspective or DTE, we would never let them want to tie the transport to their asset and they wouldn't want us to tie the transport to our asset, because it is 50/50 and neither one of us control.  

     MR. KAISER:  So it follows from that, perhaps, that if it was a concern of this Board, a prohibition against bundling probably wouldn't be very troublesome for you, because your partner wouldn't want you bundling anyway?

     MR. BAKER:  I believe that is true.  

     MS. WONG:  I would just add, Mr. Chair, that it would be important to make sure the definition of "bundling" is clear.

MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Well, I have gone through most of my questions, although, Mr. Chair, I don't want to give up my right to come up with some brilliant questions overnight and assuming if this panel is back tomorrow. 

     MS. WONG:  I wasn't planning to bring this panel back tomorrow unless there was some reason.  All of these gentlemen were planning to fly back to Chatham tonight. 

     MR. KAISER:  Do you need a couple of minutes to talk to your colleagues? 

     MS. COCHRANE:  We don't need to break, I just want to...

     So we have heard that you do not use the St. Clair Line for any regulated gas to meet any of your in-franchise customer needs. 

     According to my understanding of the evidence, Union has indicated that this line will not be available for any regulated services going forward, either.

Do I have that right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  There will be no regulated distribution services served directly off of it.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Just to clarify, we are not talking about just being served off of the line, but whether it serves any distribution customers or any distribution functions.

     MR. BAKER:  The only thing I would say is, to the extent that the path, this path got developed, there may be a situation in the future where it made sense to contract for gas upstream on this path, but that would be a regulated service.  Those costs would be, you know, part of our cost of gas and subject to the review and approval of the Board.

     We are not anticipating that at this time, but if the path develops, that will be a new option, in terms of being able to move gas into Ontario.  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Which other pipelines would be available for regulated gas?  

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  In this area, would the other two lines that you have, are those still available for regulated gas?  

     MS. WONG:  Are you talking about distribution services?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  

     MS. WONG:  There will be a witness on the other panel who might be more familiar with that, but these gentlemen might be able to give you a broad answer.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure what you mean by "distribution service".  You mean the gas coming across to meet system supply, or actually take-offs going to distribution customers?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  Distribution supply.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  They can all bring in supply.  In fact, Great Lakes/TCPL brings in over a Bcf a day and Vector brings in over a Bcf a day in supply to Dawn.   

     MS. COCHRANE:  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Ms. Wong, do you have any re-examination?  

     MS. WONG:  No, I don't, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen.  

     Do you want to quit for the day or do you want to ...

     MS. WONG:  We have actually sent the second panel home because Ms. Cochrane thought we might not have time today.  

     MR. KAISER:  9:30 tomorrow.  

     MS. WONG:  Just before we break, I am just wondering if you could give us an indication of whether or not you are planning to have written argument. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m.
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